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Chairman’s statement

The profit before tax for the year to 31 December 2009 amounted to £34 14 milhon compared with £24 04 mullion in the
previous year The group enjoyed anocher successful year in 2009 and the underlying wrading profic increased from £23 20
mullion 1n 2008 to £35 36 million 1n 2009

Dividend

The board 15 reccommending a final dividend of 74p per share, which together with the interim dividend already paid of 20p
per share, brings the ol distribution for the year to 94p per share compared with 92p per share 1n respect of 2008

Agriculture and horticulture

Tea

In 2009 all of our tea operations benefitted from an 1ncrease in demand over supply resulung 1n widespread sale price tncreases
and greatly improved profitabihity

India

Tea production in India amounted to 31 1 mulion kilos compared with 32 4 million kilos 1n the previous year This decline
was the result of dry weather conditions at the beginning of the year particularly in the Dooars region of West Bengal The
factory up-grade programme jusufies the ongoing capiral investment and will conrinue for the next two years In view of the
persistent droughts 1n the carly part of recent years we are developing our irngauon infrastrucrure as fully as possible, having
regard to the water resources available

The pohitical ssuation 1n Darjeeling remains unresolved and conunues to present difficuluies in che orderly management of our
tea gardens in thae district

Bangladesh

Tea production tn Bangladesh was similar to the previous year at 12 0 millzon kilos, which 1s commendable given the extensive
drought at the beginning of the year The drought inevitably affected the suceess of the ongoing replanting programme and
lnCTCaSCd lrrlgatlon 13 ConSldered a Prlol’lfy

Kenya

Generally good weather conditions together with increased smallholder throughput helped producuon increase in Kenya
duning the year to 21 4 million kiles from 20 5 million kilos 11 2008 The market remained strong throughout the year wich
Pakistan continuing to be a major buyer A proposed new constitution with major changes in the devolution of power has been
passed through Parliament and this 1s scheduled to go to a referendum in the second half of this year Ambiguitics on land
tenure give cause for concern

A further tranche of shares in the Siret Tea Company was sold by Kakuzi to the local communiry during che year and their
interest now stands at 41%

Malaw:

Production 1n Malaw: recovered from the previous drought year to a very satisfactory 19 5 mulhon kilos compared with

15 3 mullion kilos 1n 2008 It 1s tmportant that our operauons in Malaw stnve to maintain che highest possible qualiry and o
this end we are carrying out a programme of improvements to our factonies The Malaw: Kwacha remains unrealistically firm
and did not weaken as predicted after the elecuons in 2009

Edible nuts

2009 was an ‘off-year’ in the biennial bearing pattern of the pistachio orchards of Horizon Farms in California and producuion
was mimmal

Macadamra production 1n both Malaw: and South Africa suffered from reduced production and relauvely poor sale prices
Malaw: encountered adverse weather conditions at the ume of nur set resulting 1n decreased volumes and smaller than opumal
nut size There have been recent signs of an uphift in the sale price of macadamia nuts which 1s encouraging
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Other horuculture

Kakuz:’s avocado production in Kenya reduced bur profitabilicy increased due to substanually higher sale prices The Mombasa
Port and other shipping difficulties are a cause for concern parucularly for a perishable ceop such as avocado Very dry weather
conditions put pressure on our strategic water reserves for irrigation and investment 1s currently being made to reduce such
exposure 1n the future

Rubber production in Bangladesh was higher than the previous year but prices were somewhat lower A further 87 hecrares of
rubber was planted duning the year

After a number of successful years CC Lawnie 1n Brazl suffered from lower production and, n the case of maize, lower prices
Weather conditions have been difficult with too much rain at crucial umes of the year and some craps could not be harvested

The connnuing marurity of the citrus orchards in Califormia now enables Horizen Farms to be profitable even dunng an off-
year for pistachio producnion  Citrus production was on par with last year and sale prices increased New warer sources have
been developed on the farm which will go some way to prorecuing the existing plantings from water shorrages and possibly
allow for further development

A review of our operations in Chile concluded cthat the farm would not be profitable for a number of years and would requure
significant further capital injecuons Ceonsequently we decided that a sale of the property was the correct course of acrion and
this was completed towards the end of 2009

A replanung programme of wine grapes in South Afnica has had the effect of reducing production on a temporary basis The
quality of wine produced s however pleasing and considerable effort 15 now being directed towards improved markeung

Food storage and distribuuon

Associated Cold Stores and Transport enjoyed a reasonably profitable year in 2009 in the face of conunuing over capactty in
the marketplace Debr has been substantally reduced in this operation over the last few years and the company 1s well placed o
take advantage of any increase in rates even though this may not happen for some ume At the moment however customers are
being enticed with opportunues to move their business elsewhere by being offered unrealistically low rates which can surely
only be maintained at the cost of a vastly inferior service and then only for a short ume

The restaurant business 1n the Netherlands which 1s crucial for our operacions in thar country was severely impacted by the
recession 1n 2009 but our distribution company again produced sausfactory profits

Engincering

2009 was a year of mixed fortuncs for our UK based engineening companies Profit overall was marginally decreased which

1s considered encouraging in the very difficult circumstances prevailing throughout the year Destocking by our customers
conunued and there was no obvious impact from export orders as a result of the decline in value of sterhing AKD Engineering
enjoyed a good year partly as a result of their involvement in the decommissioning of redundant o1l rigs 10 the North Sea, for
which highly spectalised experience 1s required General Unlities, which may be considered to be towards the front end of the
manufacturing chain and thus a barometer for the future fortunes of the UK engineenng industry, encountered very difficult
market conditions throughout the year which 1s parucularly disappotnung afrer such a good year 1n 2008

A senous fire occurred ar che Nuneaton premuses of Abbey Metal Finishing on the merning of 22 Apnl 2010 Less adjustors
have been appointed but 1t 15 too soon to assess when the facility will be capable of becoming operanonal again

Banlang and financial services

Duncan Lawrie made a loss 1n 2009 almost enurely due to payments that were required to be made under various depositor
compensation schemes, which payments may perhaps be seen as a “tax’ on banks that are run 1n a prudent manner as opposed
to those that are not, and also due to Duncan Lawrie’s policy of only lending out shareholders’ funds and not customers’
deposits These deposits are placed with the most highly rated counterparties and, with interest rates at historic lows, 1t 15
virtually tmpossible to make any margin on this service Duncan Lawne occupies a niche position in a sector of the banking
industry that offers wealth protection and service to 1ts customers and these are their main prioninies Duncan Lawrie will not
be diverted from this policy even if it 15 not able to make what would be considered to be an adequate return on its assets
during chis period of low interest rates that must correce 1self within a reasonable time-scale In the meanume Duncan Lawrie
must Live with the ever-increasing regulatory burden in the hope that 1t 1s operating on a level playing field with banks that are
not managed in the same conservative manner
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Pharmaceuticals

Sicgfried Holding AG made an operating loss 1n 2009 of £6 30 million In additien Siegfnied incurred a further impairment
provision of £2 62 million and our share of their total loss amounted 10 £6 75 million

The directors of Siegfried have implemented a strategy for the furure which requires additional capital to be made available for
their ongoing aperanions and development We concluded that we did not wish to parucipate 1n this capital raising exercise
which would have necessitated a substantial further investment 1n Sicgfned We also concluded that we did not wish our
sharcholding percentage to be diluted by remaining a sharcholder wichour conmbuung to the inceeased capiral It has always
been our policy o support the management of Siegfried but we have made it clear to their board and management chat if our
joint aspiratons for the company were to diverge, then we would not stand 1n the way of the introduction of a new sharcholder
or sharchalders who shared their vision for the future As a result we were mtroduced to a number of potential shareholders
with whom sale agreements were subsequently negotiated These agreements were complered on 15 April 2010 and resulted 1n
proceeds of £48 85 milhon The effect of thus transaction will be reflected 1n our 2010 annual accounts

Other associated undertalungs and investments

Unuted Leasing and Unuted Insurance 1n Bangladesh both saw an increase in profics for 2009 when manslated into sterling The
profits for United Leasing remained statte in local currency terms Bangladesh contnues o be a difficult marker for both chese
companies with a lack of major new investments in the commercial sector and a general slowdown 1n econemic acuviry

BF&M Limited in Bermuda again increased 1ts gross premiums wrtten but net earmings decreased shghtly due ro hugher policy
benefits being paid and 1ncreased operaung expenses

The share prices of our other investments in Bermuda have suffered from the impact of the global financial cnisis and from
the dechine and partial relocarion elsewhere of the reinsurance secror which represents the major commercial business of that
country

Devclopment

The year 2009 started 1n very uncertain circumstances The recession was seriously beginning to bite, the banking system

was sull undergoing difficult umes and general prospects encompassed the possibility of a depression Even so we were able

to continue with our development programmes and thanks to good results from our agniculrural operauons and the sale of
ous shares 1n Siegfried we now have the advantage of a strong financial sivation with no net debt and considerable fuads far
investment We will not hewever be 1n a hurry to deploy these funds but will examine the many ways in which we can develop
the compantes and investments chat are already part of the group before looking ar pastures new

Directors

Tt 15 with great sadness chat | have to inform you thar Peter Leggate passed away in November 2009 Peter’s contribution to our
operattons in India and Bangladesh was substantal and he will be greatly missed by his many friends and colleagues

I also have to inform you that Dr Bernard Siegfried will be standing down from the board at the conclusion of the annual
general meeting m June Dr Sicgfried has made a major contnibution to the affairs of the group including, of course, our
wnvestment 1n Stegfned Holding AG

I am pleased to welcome to the board Marun Dunky, who as a director of Camellia Holding AG 15 already well known to us

Peter Field and Chris Ames have been appointed joint managing direcrors of Camella Ple with effect from 1 Apnl 2010

Staff

It s again my pleasuce to thank all our staff for the very professional manner in which they have discharged their duues over
the past year

M C Perkins
Chatrman

29 April 2010
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Report of the directors

The directors present their reporc together with the audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 2009

Principal activiues

The company 15 a holding company and s country of incorporation i1s England The principal acuvities of ies subsidary and
assoctated undertakings compnse

Agriculture and horticulture — the production of tea, citrus, edible nuts, rubber, fruits, other horucultural produce and general
flrmlng

Engineering — metal finishing, fabrication, precision engancering and heat treatment

Food storage and distribution

Insurance

Private banking and financal services

The holding of investments

Further details of the group's activicies are included in the chairman’s statement on pages 3 0 5

Results and dividends

The profit for the ycar amounted to £22,441,000 (2008 £16,493,000) The board has proposed a final dividend for the year
of 74p per share payable on 2 July 2010 to holders of ordinary shares regiscered at the close of business on 11 June 2010 The
total dividend for 2009 1s therefore 94p per share (2008 92p per share)

Directors

The directors of the company are listed on page 2 The following directors had beneficial interests in the share capital of the
company

31 December 1 January
2009 2009

Camellsa Plc ordinary shares of 10p each
M C Perluns 1,573 1,573
C P T Vaughan-Johnson 1,000 1,000

There have been no changes in the mterests of direcrors between 31 December 2009 and the date of this repore

Mr M Dunkr was appointed to the board as a non-executive director on | Apnl 2010 Mr P A Leggant passed away on
28 November 2009




Report of the directors

Under the company's arnicles of association all the directots are required to reure annually Dr B A Siegfried will not be
secking re-clecnion ac the annual general meeung Accordingly, Mr M C Perkins, Mr C ] Relleen, Mr C ] Ames, Mr P ] Field,
Mr A K Mathur, Mr D A Reeves, and Mr C P T Vaughan-Johnson reure and, being eligible, seek re-clecuon In addinion,
Mr M Bunki having been appointed to the board since the last annual general meeung, will reaire and seek re-election

None of the directers or their familtes had a matenal interest 1n any contract of significance wath the company or any
subsidiary duning and ar the end of the financial year

Executrve directors

Mr M C Perkins was appotnted a director 1n 1999 and charrman in 2001 having joined Eastern Produce (Holdings) Limited
(now Linton Park Plc) in 1972 He 1s a chartered accountant Mr Perkins 15 also chairman of Duncan Lawrie Holdings
Limited and chairman of the nominaton commirtee

Mr C ] Ames, a Chartered Accountant, 1s a jeint managing direcror of Camellia Plc and a non-executive director of Duncan
Lawrie Holdings Limited He was previously Managing Director of Douglas Deakin Young Linuted which was acquired by the
Camellia group 1n 2005 Prior to that he was a partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers

Mr P ] Field 1s a joint managing dircctor of Camelhia Plc and chairman of Goodricke Group Limited From 30 Apnl 2010,
Mt Field will become non-execuaive charrman of Duncan Lawne Limited and Duncan Lawne Asset Management Limited and
continue as a director of Duncan Lawrie Holdings Limited but 1n a non-executive capacity Before joining the group 1n 1987,
Mr Field was with Grindlays Bank engaged primarnly with their business in the Indran subcontinent

Mr A K Mathut, 15 a chartered accountant and joined the group 1n 1981 He was appointed finance director 1n 1999 and 15
also a director of Goodricke Group Limited

Non-executrve directors

Mr C J Relleen was formerly a partner in PricewatethouscCoopers He was appointed an independent non-executive director
and depury chairman in January 2006 having previously been a non-executive director of Linton Park Ple Mr Relleen 15 also
a non-executive director of Duncan Lawne Holdings Limited He 15 the sentor independent director, chairman of the audt
commttee and a member of the nomination and remuneration committees

Mr M Dunki 1s a director of Rahn & Bodmer Co , a Zunich based private bank He 15 also a director of The Camellia Private
Trust Company Limited and a trustee of The Camellia Foundation and a dtrector of Camellia Holding AG

Mr D A Reeves was appointed a director 1n 2001 Following a long career with the Bank of England, Mr Reeves joined che
group 11 1998 and was managing director of Duncan Lawnie Limited He became a non-execunve director of the company in
2002 and 1s a member of the audit committee Mr Reeves 15 a director of The Camellia Private Trust Company Limited and a
trustee of The Camellta Foundanon

Mr C P T Vaughan-Johnson, who was formerly president and chuef execunve officer of the Bank of Bermuda, was appornted
a director 1n 1999 He 1s chaurman of the remuneration committee and a member of the audir and nomination commuttees
Mr Vaughan-Johnson 1s also a non-execunive director of Duncan Lawne Holdings Limited

Business review

The company 15 requured to set out 1n this report a fair review of the business of the group during the year ended 31 December
2009 and a description of principal nsks and uncertaintres facing the group A fair review of the business of the group s
incorporated within the chairman’s statement on pages 3 w0 5 The chairman’s statement together with information contained
within the report of the directors highlighr the key factors affecting the group’s development and performance Other maters
are dealt with below

Principal risks and uncertainues

There are a number of possible nsks and uncertainties that could impace the group’s businesses As the group's businesses are
widely spread both in terms of activity and location, it 15 unlikely char any one single factor could have a matenial impace on che
group’s long-term performance The following nisks relating to the group's principal operations have however been denufied
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Agriculture and horticulture

The group’s agricultural based businesses are located in Kenya, Malawi, South Africa, Bangladesh, India, Brazil and the USA
The success of these activities 1s greatly dependent on climatic conditsons, plant disease, the cost of labour and the market price
for the produce In additton, exports from these businesses are subject to foreign exchange fluctuarions as products, parucularly
those from Aftica, are normally priced :n US dollars

Developing countries such as Bangladesh, Kenya and Malaw: tend to be politically less stable In Kenya, Malaws and South
Aftica there are long-term 1ssues concerning land ownership over which the group has litle control buc monutors closely

In India, separatst groups have for many years been involved in episodes of violence in Assam Whlst thus 15 2 matter of major
concern, the group’s operations 1n this region have generally been able to trade normally Over the last two years, there has
been an increase 1n acavity by a separaust group in Darjeeling and the Dooars

UK engineering
A number of the UK engineering companies are dependent for a significant pare of theur revenue on the acrospace and the ol
and gas industries A downturn 1n erther of these sectors would have an impact on the level of activity 1n these businesses

Some of the processes used by the companies involved in metal treatment require high standards of health and safery and
environmental management Falure to maintaim these standards could give nise to accidents or environmental damage

Cold starage and transport
Cold srorage and transport in the UK 1s a highly competitive industry and 15 largely dependent on the food industry for the
uttlisation of cold stores

Cold stores are heavy users of electricity and any signuficant movement in energy costs can affect the operaton’s profitability
Simularly, the transpore dwvision 1s affected by sharp movements n the cost of fuel

The business 1s dependent upon a sophisticated computer system The failure of this system could have stgnificant
consequences for the business although a disaster recovery plan 15 1n place

Banking and financial services
Duncan Lawnie Limited 1s regulated by the Financial Services Auchority (FSA) and consequently has a well developed
compliance process The following risks have however been 1denufied

- comphance nisk — the FSA has the power to stop trading acuvity should there be a senous breach of 1ts regulations
Following the recent global banlang crisis, there have been moves by the auchonties to ughten regulatory standards and
this may lead to a requirement for further capital to be invested in Duncan Lawnce Limited

- credi nsk = the lending of moncy gives nise to a credic sk The company lends money to customers and places money
with other banks and holds interest bearing securiues This credir risk 1s managed by strict internal procedures The
company [imus 1self to lending no more than 1ts share capiral and reserves

-~ hquidity, interest and foreign exchange rate nisk — these nisks are monitored closely and reported upon daily against
conservarive exposure Limics

Duncan Lawnie Linuted has no exposure to the sub-prime mortgage market but in peneds of low interest rates and low stock
market values 1ts income stream wall inevitably be affected

Further information on the group’s financial nisks are disclosed 1 note 37 of the accounts

Investments
The group owns a number of investments including listed investments The value of these investments 1s therefore likely to
fluctuate 1n line wich global stock market movements

Pension schemes

There are three final salary schemes 1n the UK These are all closed t0 new entrants and one scheme has been closed to future
accrual A material proportion of the assets of each of these schemes 15 invested 1n equities and the value of these assers will
fluctuate in hine with global equity markets Continuing improvements in morralicy rates may also increase the lrabiliues of the
schemes
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Credst Rusk
The global economic recesston may affect some of the group’s customers Credut control procedures are 1n place but a nsk
tremains that some customers may have difficulty making payments

Social and eovironmental responsibaluy

Background

The group has a wide range of businesses operating around the world 1n diverse commercial, cultueal and regulatory
environments These businesses encompass a correspondingly wide spectrum of employment and environmental 1ssues and our
main challenge 15 ta ensure thar these are consistently managed across the group

The group’s businesses have a duty to meet local regulatory requirements and will always strive to doso In dhis respect,

there 15 a disuncuion berween our UK businesses and our agriculrural and horucultural businesses based mostly in developing
countries Whilst the UK businesses are subjecr to well developed regulatory regimes in the areas of employment and
environmental protection, this 15 not necessarily the case elsewhere Our agncultural and horticultural businesses have however
more than responded to the increasing amount of relevant local legislation and to the demands of the markerplace, as many

of our majer customers for agricultural products now expect us to meer theur own social and environmental standards, or to
achieve certification against recognised international standards such as ‘Fairtrade” labelling

Parncular challenges and opportunicies for the group lie m the following areas

Chsld labour We have a clear policy not to use child labour and all of our businesses meet local legal requirements The
mmmunm legal working age vanes around the world and 1n some countries 1t 1s both the cultaral notm and permissible for
parents to (nvolve their children in the productive process We do not subscribe to this approach and therefore translating cur
policy 1nte unambiguous local rules and enforcing these rules requares vigdance

Healsh and safety Our UK and North-American businesses operate 1n a strong regulatory climate, and have a good health
and safety culture and record Achieving equivalent standards of health and safery management in our operations in some
developing countries 1s a conunuing challenge

Medical care and educatzon In some countres, our workers and their children do not have access to good state provision of
medical or educational services However, every tea estate 1n India and Bangladesh has a hospital and a qualified doctor and
our operations tn both these countries have central group hospirals te which more serous 1llnesses are referred A number

of our African businesses report a high incidence of HIV/Aids We provide, as a very minimum, basic medical services
including where appropriate retroviral drugs, and give support to schools chat are either run by our compantes, or in the local
neighbourhood

Casual labour Some of our agriculrural businesses rely on seasonal labour, notably at harvest time Qur agricultural companies
ag Y Y
give casual and contract workers employment nighes 1n accordance with local legislacton

Environmental management Qur UK-based engineering businesses have the greatest potential 1o create pollution and hazardous
waste and need to meet nght legislauve standards Where appropnate, our UK businesses have formal environmental
management systems in place and most are independently cerufied to the internanional standard 15O 14001 The enforeement
of environmental legislation 1n many countries where we operate 1s poor and our busiesses 1n these locztions have to act on
thetr own initiative to meer international standards of environmental protection

Cur approach

We believe that good management of employment and environmental 1ssues 1s essenual tn ensuring the long-term success of
our businesses We are therefore commutred o devoting the resources necessary to continually improve our performance with
the same vigour that we apply to other aspects of managing our business

In 2009, the board adopted a new Corporate Social Responsibilicy Policy to replace the Sratement of Business Principles that
had been 1n place since 2005 The Corporate Social Responsibility Policy 1s now available on the company’s website and 1c wll
be adopted across the group during 2010

Performance
There are no current employment or environmental issues that prejudice the continuing development of the group No group
businesses were prosecuted for any breach of employment or environmental legislation duting 2009
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In 2006 the group commussiened independent advisors to review the implementanon of the business principles in seventeen
of our companues across the agnculture and horuculture, engineering, food storage and distribunon and banking and financial
services divisions Based on cherr findings, the group has sought to ensure ongoing adherence to the business pninciples In
2010, the executive commuttee will be looking to establish a process for ensurning that the new Corporate Social Responsibility
Policy 1s adopted across the group

~  Members of the executive committee must ensure that the businesses for which they are responsible adope the business
principles and have implementation plans in place

— A more formal structure for business reporung and data collection against the requirements of the business principles has
been established

— A sct of key non-financial performance indicators has been developed to enable better measurement of group
performance .

Key financial performance indicators

Return on segmental assets

The nature of the group’s principal activities 15 such that the board takes a long-term view on 1ts operations, particularly in
agniculture It ts also concerned to improve the quality of the group’s assets over the long-term and monutors that by reference
to return on segmental assets achreved 1n the man segments of the business which are then compared againse budger The
return achicved 1n the current and prior year was as follows

Agniculture and Food storage and ~ Banking and financial

horticulture Engineering distnbution services
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
Segment net assets (£'000) 187,118 185,707 12,091 11,991 19,451 20,689 28,264 29,124
Segment profit/(loss) (£000) 37,949 23,349 1,608 1,814 985 1,156 (925) 666
Return on segmental assets (%) 2028 1257 13 30 1513 506 559 (327) 229

Segment nct assets (segment assers less segment habilines) and segment profit are as reported 1n the consolidated accounts

Group borrownngs rasie
The board’s objective 1s to ensure that gross borrowings as a percentage of tangible net assets do not exceed 50% The rauo

achieved was 5 57% (2008 10 16%)

Gross borrowings and tangible net assets (share capital and reserves less goodwill and intangible assets) are derived from the
consolidated accounts

10
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Key non-financial performance indicators

The following informacion has been compiled based on data provided by a majoriey of the group’s subsidiary undertakings
The beard considers that this information demonstrates the level of compliance with impercant elements of the business
principles The board wili regularly review which key non-financial performance indicators are most appropriate

KPI definitian

1 Compliance

a) Prosecutions  The number of prosecunons
brought 1n the Rnancial year
by the official regulatory bodies
responsible for enforcing
regulations i the areas of

Employment
Worker health and safery
Environmental protection
b) Formal The number of written
warnungs warnings during the financial

year by the officta] regulatory
bodies responsible for
enforang eegulauons in the
areas of
Employment
Warker health and safery
Enviconmental protection

2 Chuld Labour

a) Minimum age The number of employees who
were less than 15 years old
during the financiaf year

b} Access o The number of employees

education who were younger than the
age for compleung compulsory
education tn their counery
during the financial year

3 Acadents
a} Inpury ‘The number of injurses
recerved ax work resulung in
ether
Absence from woek for more
shan thres days, or the injured
person being unable 1o do
the full range of tharr normal
dutses for more than three days
4 Health
a} Sickness The number of employee days
absence absence as a result of sickness
dueing the financial year
b) Sickness ‘The number of claims for
claims compensauon ansing from

occupauonal health 1ssues
recewved duning che financial
year n respect of connnuing
operauons

Agneulrure
and

horuculre Engintcring
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

128 78 45 1 I 2

165 5207 148 776™ [53 8777 3,580 3869 2945

246 248 126 2 - -

Food Banking and
storage and financial
distribution SRIVICES

2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

2,431 2854 3235 870 566 166

1 ! 3 - - -

(1) This excludes tea garden workers in India who have a coneractual entidement to fourteen days sickness absence Thus year che aperations tn Malaw are
included whereas they were excluded 1n previous years It should be noted however that in Malaws there is high level of sickness due to HIV/AIDS related

condisons and malana.

11
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Substantial shareholdings
As at 29 April 2010 the company had been advised of the following interests 1n the share capital of the company

Camelha Privare Trust Company Limited held through its subsidiary, Camellia Holding AG 1,427,000 ordinary shares
(51 34 per cent of total voung rights)

Taube Hodson Stonex & Partners Limited held (through State Street Nominees Limited) 227,176 ordinary shares
{8 17 per cent of rotal votng nghts)

Alcate] Bell Pensioenfonds VZW held (through HSBC Global Custody Nominees (UK) Limited) 223,015 ordinary shares
(8 023 per cent of rotal voung rights)

Events after the balance sheet date

On 15 Apnl 2010, the group completed the disposal of 1ts enure shareholding in Stegfried Holding AG  Further details of the
transactton can be found 1n note 40 to the accounts

Charitable contnbutions

Durning the year the group made chaneable donatons rotalling £4,768 (2008 £4,770) Of this ameunt £1,330 was paid w0
atts, sports and educauon related chanties and £3,438 was paid to local hospicals and health related chariries

Employees

It 15 group policy to keep employees informed, through internal publications and other communicanons, on the performance
of the group and on matters affecting them as employees and arrangements to that end are made by the management of
indvidual subsidiary undertakings

It 15 alse group policy that proper consideration 1s gaven to applicanons for employment recerved from disabled persons and wo
gwve employees who become disabled every opportunity to continue their employment

Payment of creditors

It 1s group policy to agree payment terms with suppliers when negouating business transactions and 1o pay suppliers in
accordance with contractual or other legal obligatens The company has no tade creditors Group trade creditors at
31 December 2009 represented 34 days (2008 35 days) of annual purchases

Share capital and purchase of own shares

The company’s share capiral comprises one class of ordinary shares of 10 pence each which carry no restrictions en the wansfer

of shares or on voting rights (other than as set out in the company’s articles of associanon) There are no agreements known to

the company between shareholders 1n the company which may result 1n restriiccions on the transfer of shares or on voting nghes
in relation to the comparny Details of the 1ssued share capital are contained in note 31 to the accounts

At the annual general meeting in 2009, shareholders gave authonty for the company o purchase up 16 277,950 of its own
shares Thus authonity expires at the conclusion of this year’s annual general meeting on 3 June 2010

Auditors

Following the review of the group’s audic arrangements referred to on page 15, the board appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP as auditors for the group The board wish o acknowledge with thanks the services provided by Moore Stephens LLP as
auditors over a significant number of years

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has expressed 1rs willingness to conunue as auditors of the company and a resolution proposing
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP re-appointment will be pur 1o the annual general meetung

Each of the persons who were directors at the time when thus directots’ report was approved has confirmed that
a)  so far as each director 1s aware, there 15 no relevant audic informanon of which the company's auditors are unaware, and

b} each director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director, including making appropriate enquiries
of fellow directors and of the company’s auditors for that purpose, 1n order to be aware of any information needed by che
company’s audictors 1n connection with preparing their report and to establish thar the company's auditors are aware of
that information

By order of the board

M D Conway
Secretary
29 Apnl 2010
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Corporate governance

Statement of compliance

Thus statement describes how the company applies the main principles of The Combined Code on Corporate Governance
(“the Code™) In implemenung the Code, the directors have taken account of the company's size and structure and the face
thac there 15 a controlling sharcholder

The company has comphed with the Code throughout the year wath the excepuon of the following areas of the Code that have
not been implemented

(1) the audit committee comprises one non-executive and two independent non-executve directors,
(11} formal evaluation procedures for the board, 1ts commuttees and directors have not been established,
(1) durning 2009 a nomination commictee had not been esrablished bur during 2010 the board has constiruted 2 nominauon

commiriee

The board

The board currently comprises nine direcrors Dr Siegfried will not be seeking re-clection at the forthcoming annual general
meeting Currently two are independent non-exccutive directors and three are non-executtve directors The remaining directors
are executive directors, including the executive chairman Mr Relleen, the deputy chairman, has been designated as the senior
independent director In Apnl 2010, Mr Dunki was appointed to the board as a non-execuuve director The names and brief
biographical details of each director appears on page 7

Mr Vaughan-Johnsen was first appointed to the board 1n 1999 The board, having raken into consideracion provision A7 2
of the Code, considers 1t 15 1n the best interest of the company for Mr Vaughan-Johnson to continue to act as an independent
non-executive director The board considers that Mr Vaughan-Johnson remains independent and that given the relative
complexity and geographical spread of the group, Mr Vaughan-Johnson’s expertence conunues to be of considerable benefit

There 1s ongoing dalogue between the chairman and the majority shareholder whose views are reported to the board The
company s also in contact with other major shareholders During the year, the senior independent director met with an
institunonal investor to discuss governance 1ssues

In April 2010, Mr Ames and Mr Field were appotnted joint managing directors of Camellia Plc and consequently they will
assume responsibility for aspecis of the day 10 day management of the group In 2010, the board established a nominavon
commuttee chaired by Mr Perkins, the other members being Mr Relleen and Mr Vaughan-Johnson

The board has established a remuneracion comemittee, audic commuttee and executive commirtee Terms of reference of each of
these commutiees can be viewed on the company’s website

The boatd 1s responsible for managing the group’s business and has adopred a schedule of matters reserved for 1ts approval
The schedule 15 reviewed annually and covers, inter aha, the following areas

- Strategy

~  Acquisitions and disposals

- Financual reporting and control

- Internal controls

- Approval of expenditure above specified Iimuts

—  Approval of rransactions and contracts above specified limis
—  Responsibilites for corporate governance

—  Board membership and committees

—  Approval of changes to capizal structure

A full copy of the schedule 1s available on the company’s website

A report summansing the group’s finaneial and operanonal performance including detailed informauon on each of uts
businesses 15 senr to directors each month Each director 15 provided wath sufficiencinformaucn in advance of board mectings
to cnable the directors to make informed judgements on maceers referred to the board The board met nine times in 2009
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Camellia Plc

Corporate governance

Auendance by directors at board and commuttee mectings held duning the year was as follows

Board
M C Perkins 9/9
C]J Relleen 8/9
CJ Ames 9/9
P ] Freld 9/9
A K Mathur O
D A Reeves 9/9
Dr B A Siegfried 6/9
C P T Vaughan-Johnson 719

() Mr Mathur attends meeungs of the audit commuttee by tnvitation in his capacity as finance director

Audit Remuneration

313 212
3430 -
313 -
313 212

The board has not established formal performance evaluation procedures of 1tself, the directors or its commucrees The board

will continuc to review whether implementation of such proceduscs 1s appropriate

Executive committee

The board has delegated the day co day management of the group’s operations to the executive committee which 15 also

responsible for implemennng board policy The members of the commuttee are

M C Perkuns Chairman

A K Mathur Finance

CJ Ames Joint managing director

P J Field Joint managing director

[ Ahmed Bangladesh

M D Conway Corporate secretanial and administration
G Mclean Kenya, Malaw: and South Africa

A Singh India

Audit commuttee

The audit commuttee 1s chaired by Mr Relleen The other members of the commuttee are Mr Reeves and Mr Vaughan-
Johnson Mr Reeves, a non-execuuve director, serves as a member of the audit commuttee as the board considers thar his
expertence ganed from a long career at the Bank of England 15 of considerable benefit Duning 2009, the commuttee met on

three oceasions

The principal responsiblities of the audic commuttee are

—  to review and monicor the financral statements of the company and the audit of those statements
~  to momtor compliance with relevant financial reporting requirements and legistanion

- 1o monuor the cflectiveness and imdependence of the external auditor

—  ta review effectiveness of the group’s internal control system The commuttee regularly reviews the effectiveness of incernal

audir activities carried out by the company's group accounting funcuon and senior management

- to review non-audit services provided by the external audicors

During the year the commuttee’s work included discharging these responsibilities and, in addsuon, i reviewed tos terms of
reference taking into account the Guidance an Audit Commuttees tssued by the Financial Reperting Council
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Corporate governance

During the latrer half of 2009 the commuttee reviewed the arrangements for the audit of the group and its subsidiary
companies Moore Stephens LLP, the previous group audirer and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the auditor of a sigmificant
proportion of the group’s overseas subsidianes, were asked wo present to the commurttee for the ongoing audit responsibilities
As a result of thus process, the committee recommended to the board that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP be appointed audiror
for the group and all 1ts subsidiary companies This decision was based on the wide experzenice chat PrcewaterhouseCoopers
LLP possess in thewr audits of listed companies in the United Kingdom, and the extensive network of thewr practice 1n overseas
countries PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were duly appointed in place of Moore Stephens LLP 1n September 2009

The commurtee reviewed those non-audic services provided by the cxternal auditor and sacisfied 1tself thar che scale and nature
of those services were such that the auditors’ objecuvity and independence was safeguarded

Remuneration commttee

The commuttee comprises the board’s two independent non-execuuve directors, being Mr Vaughan-Jehnson who is chairman
of the committee and Mr Relleen

The commutcee’s full terms of reference are available on the company’s website The responsibilities of the commurtee 1include

- the review of the group’s policy relating to remuneration of the chairman, execuuve directors and members of the
executive committee

- to determune the terms of employment and remuneration of the chairman, execuuve directors and those members of the
executive committee that are employed 1n the United Kingdom with a view to ensuning that those individuals are fairdy
but responsibly rewarded

- to approve compensation packages or arrangements following the severance of any executive direcror’s service contrace

- at s discretion, the commuttee may make such enquinies as 1t sees fit concerning the packages of those members of the
exccutive commuttee that are employed outside the United Kingdom

The committee met twice duning 2009 The remuneration report appears on pages 17 to 19

Insurance

The company purchases 1nsurance to cover 1ts directors in respect of legal actions against them in their capaary as directors of
the company The level of cover 1s currently £20 million All directors have access to independent professional advice at the
company’s expense

Internal control

The directors acknowledge that they are responsible for mainratning a sound system of internal control During the year, the
aud:t committee, on behalf of the board, reviewed the effectuiveness of the framework of the group’s system of internal control,
the principal features of which are described below

Decentralisatzon 1s a key management philosophy with responsibiliey for efficient day o day operauons delegared to ocal
management Accountability and delegation of authornity are clearly defined with regular communication berween group head
office and local management The performance of each company 1s conunually monitored centrally including a critical review
of annual budgets, revised forecasts and monthly sales, profits and cash reports Frnancial results and key business stanisucs and
variances from approved plans are carefully monitored Senior management regularly visic and review the group’s operaung
units However, any system of internal conrrol can provide only reasonable, and not absolure, assurances against matenal mis-
statement or loss

Going concern

After reviewing the group’s budget for 2010 and other forecasts the directors have a reasonable expectation that the group has
adequate resources to conunue 1 operauonal existence for the foresceable future Therefore they continue to adope the going
concern basis in prepanng the accounts

By order of the board

M D Conway
Secretary
29 Apnil 2010
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Camellia Plc

Statement of directors’ responsiblities

The directors are responsible for prepaning the annual report and the group and parent company financial statements in
accordance with apphicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial year The
directors are required ro prepare the group financial statements 10 accerdance with Internauonal Financial Reporung Srandards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and applicable law and Arucle 4 of the LAS Regulation and have elected to prepare
company financial statements 1n accordance with IFRSs

The group and parent company financial statements are required by law to give a truc and fair view of the state of affairs of
both the group and the parent company and of the profit or loss of the group and company for that period

In prepaning those financial statements, the directors are required to
- select smrable accounung policies and apply them consistendy
-~ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent

- state whether applicable 2ccounung standards have been followed, subject to any matenial departures being disclosed and
explained in the financial statemens

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 15 appropriate to presume that the company will

continue 1n business

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounung records char disclose wath reasonable accuracy at any tme the
financial pesition of the parent company and che group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with
the Companies Act 2006 They are also respensible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for rakung
reasonable steps for the prevention and detecuon of fraud and other irregulaninies

The dizectors are also respensible for preparing a directors’ report, directors’ remuneration repore and corporate governance
scatement that comply with company law

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnity of the corporate and financial information included on the
company’s website

By order of the board

M C Perlans
Chatrman
29 April 2010
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Remuneration report

Thus report 1s drawn up 1n accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and the rules of the UK Lisung Authonty

Policy on dircctors’ remuncration

In determining remuneranion policy and the remuneration of directors, full consideration has been given to the relevant
provisions of the Combined Code The board seeks to provide remuneration packages that will actrace, tetain and mouvate the
best possible person for cach position The board also wishes to align the interests of execunves with sharcholders The group’s
activities are based largely on agriculture and horuculture, which are highly dependent on factors outside management control
(e g weather, marker prices for our produce etc), and 15 a sigmificant consideration as to why the company does not operate
profic related bonus, share opuon or share incentive schemes for directors

Service contracts

Messrs Perkins, Ames and Mathur are each employed by Linton Park Plc on rolling service contracts Mr Field 1s employed

by Duncan Lawnie Limited Mr Perkans’ service contract 1s dated 25 Apnil 2002, Mr Mathur’s service contract 1s dated 1
December 2003, Mr Ames’s service contract 15 dated 24 April 2009 and Mr Field’s service contract 1s dated 25 September
2002 The setvice contracts are terminable at any ume by a one year period of notice from the company or the director
Following their imiual appointment non-executive directors may seck re-elecuon by sharcholders at each subsequent annual
general meetng Non-execunive direcrors do not have service agreements There are no specific contractual provisions for
compensation upon carly termination of a nen-executive director’s employment The remuneratuon committee reviews salaries
annually and will seck independent professional advice when appropriate

The followtng sections on directors’ remuneration and pensions have been audied

Directors’ remuncration

Basic Benefits
remuneration n kind Toral Total
2009 2009 2009 2008
£ £ £ £
Execuuve
M C Perkins 371,708 24,611 396,319 372,456
CJ Ames 192,400 21,246 213,646 50,932
P j Field 192,400 14,598 206,998 49,970
P A Leggaue (up unul 28 November 2009) 123,237 16,882 140,119 147,064
A K Mathur 192,400 22,151 214,551 193,055
Non-executive
D A Reeves 20,000 - 20,000 20,000
C] Relleen 37,500 - 37,500 37,500
Dr B A Siegfried 10,000 - 10,000 10,000
C P T Vaughan-Johnson 32,500 - 32,500 32500
1,172,145 99,488 1,271,633 913,477

Benefits 1n kind include the value acnibuted to benefics such as medical insurance, accommodation, permanent health
insurance, spouse/partner travel and cash alternacives 1o company cars
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Camellia Plc

Remuneration report

Directors’ pensions

Most UK employees, including executive directors, are eligible to jotn pension schemes operated within the group Mr Perkins
was a member of The Linton Park Group Pension Scheme up unul 28 February 2010 Mr Freld and Mr Mathur are members
of The Lawne Group Pension Scheme Members of The Lawrie Group Pension Scheme contribute 6 per cent of therr basic
salary Members of The Linton Park Group Pension Scheme contributed 8 per cent of their basic salary Penston accrues at
the rate of 1/60th of basic final salary per year of service for Messts Perkuns, Freld and Mathur Under The Linton Park Group
Pension Scheme the normal renirement age was 63 up unul 31 December 2003 1n respect of service up unul thac date Wich
effect from 1 January 2004 the normal reurement age was increased to 65

From 1 May 2007 the normal retirement age of members of The Lawne Group Pension Scheme was increased to 65 Pension
benefits accrued prior to that date can be paid at age 63 without actuanal reduction In a few cases pensions can be paid from
age 60 without actuanal reduction Both schemes provide for a lump sum death 1n service benefit of four tumes basic salary and
a spouse’s penston of half of the member’s pension, based on prospective service

All benefits are subject to H M Revenue & Customs hmits Up unal 6 April 2005, under The Linton Park Group Pension
Scheme, post retirement pension increases were based on the annual increase in the retail price 1ndex, subject to a maximum
of 5 per cent From 6 April 2005, the maximum increase reduced to 2 5 per cent per annum 1n respect of pension accrued on
or after that date Also, under The Linton Park Group Pension Scheme there 15 a mmimum increase of 3 per cent per annum
1n respect of service before 1 January 2002 Under The Lawnie Group Pension Scheme for entrants prior to 1 January 1996,
pension carned prior to April 2003 15 subject to a 5 per cent increase per annum From 1 May 2007, the maximum 1ncrease
reduced to 2 5 per cent 1n respect of pension accrual on or after that date In respect of service before 1 March 1999 Mr
Perkins was a member of a group defined contribution penston scheme A sum of £34,119 was paid to Mr Ames's personal
pension arrangement during the year

Further informatton on pension arrangements

Defined benefit pension schemes

Increase/

Transfer Transfer Transfer (decrease)

value of value of value of tn transfer

Pension Pension pension pension pension  value in the

Pension accruedin  accrued ro  accrued in accrued accrued year net of

zccrued 1 the year net 31 Dec theyearner  at3l Dec  ar31 Dec directors’

year of inflacion 2009 of inflavion 2008 2009 contnbunons
Age £ £ £ £ £ £ £
M C Perkins 65 6,780 6,780 57,100 83,902 903,617 1,007,179 78,262
P ] Field 59 4,880 4,880 65,810 41,200 1,375000 1,413,100 28,400
A K Mathur 62 4,530 4,530 77,710 52,740 2,111,900 1,985,300 (136,300)

The increase in transfer value and the transfer value of pension accrued 1n the year are scated net of directors’ contriburions

Notes

1 The accrued pension 1s the amoune that would be paid if the director lef service at the relevant date The pension in respect of service afier 1 May 2007
would be paid from age 65 based on the recent change in pension provision

The transfer values have been calculated in accordance with the gndance published by the Pensions Regulator, which came into effect from 1 October 2008
3 A different calculation methodology 1s used m respect of Mr Mathur which results in a lower transfer value at the end of the year
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Remuneration report

Performance review

The following graph shows the rotal rerurn on an investment 1n the company’s shares over the 5 years ended 31 December
2009 compared with the return achieved by the FTSE SmallCap index This index has been selected as there 1s no speaific
index that 1s comparable to the acuvitses of the company
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By order of the board
M D Conway

Secretary
29 Apnil 2010




Camellia Plc

Consolidated income statement
Jor the year ended 31 December 2009

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other operaung income
Distribucion costs
Admunistrauve expenses

Trading profit

Share of associates’ results

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

Profit on parr disposal of a subsidiary

Profit on disposal of available-for-sale investments
Profit on disposal of an associate

Profit on disposal of non-current assets

Gatn ansing from changes in fair value of biologcal assets

Profit from operations

Investment income

Finance income

Finance costs

Pension schemes’ net financing (expense)/income
Net finance <osts

Profit before tax
Taxauon

Profit for the ycar

Profit attnibutable to minoricy interests
Profit arrnbutable to equiry shareholders

Earnings per sharc — basic and diluted

20

Notes

Gy W W

G 00 00 W

2009 2008
£000 £000

230,270 190,551
(148,506} (123,203)
81,764 67,348
1,698 2,206
{9,061) (8,765)
{39,041) (37,588)
35,360 23,201
{2,966) (8,612}
(674) -
135 104

28 390

- 50

- 280

2,746 8916
34,629 24,329
1,106 1,070
1,103 643
{1,566) (2,500}
(1,129) 498
{1,592) (1.359)
34,143 24,040
(11,702) (7.547)
22,441 16,493
6,544 5,449
15,897 11,044
22,441 16,493
571 9p 397 3p



Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Group
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (expense)/income
Foreign exchange translation differences

Release of exchange translation difference on disposal of subsidiary
Actuanial movement on defined benefit pension schemes (note 29)

Available-for-sale investments
Valuation losses taken to equity

Share of other comprehensive income/{expense} of associates
Tax relatung to components of other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive (cxpensc)/income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year

Total comprehensive {expense)/income ateributable wo
Minority interests
Owners of the parent

Company

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Available-for-sale investments
Valuarton gains taken to equity

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

2009 2008
£000 £000
22,441 16,493
(24,276) 67,513
(294) -
(2,657) (21,926)
(729 (7,025}
3,075 (5.384)
(1,276) 1,784
(26,157) 34,962
(3,716) 51,455
4,163 10,437
(7.879) 41,018
(3,716) 51,455
3,376 3,869
16 -
16 -
3,392 3,869
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Camellia Plc

Consolidated balance sheet
at 31 December 2009

Non-current asscts

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment
Biological assets

Prepaid operzting leases
Investments 1n associates
Deferred tax assets

Other investments

Reurement benefit surplus
Trade and other receivables

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Other investments

Current income tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Current liabilities

Borrowings

Trade and other payables

Current income tax liabilitses
Other employee benefit obhigations
Provisions

Total current hiabilities
Net current asscts

Total assets less current habilities

Non-current labilities
Borrowings

Trade and other payables

Deferred tax liabilities

Reurement bencht obligatons
Other employce bencht obligations
Other non-current habilities

Total non-current hiabilites
Net assets
Equity

Called up share capreal
Reserves

Sharcholders’ funds
Minority interests

Total equity
22

Notes

15
16
17
i8
20
28
21
29
23

22
23
21

24

26
25

30
27

26
25
28
29
30

31

restated
2009 2008
£000 £000
8,584 9,059
80,491 85,787
106,067 114,220
1,074 1,171
97,364 109,883
103 183
30,153 33,668
3,054 3,101
19,646 21,235
346,536 378,307
28,279 30771
55,197 55,704
12,420 5,436
763 1,481
229,574 276,198
326,233 369,590
{12,761) (18,629)
{254,346) (304,167)
(5,353) (4,603)
(268) (247)
(150} (123)
{272,878) (327,771)
53,355 41,819
399,891 420,126
(3.119) (11,354)
{11,227) (12,347)
(30.449) (32,678)
(27.045) (27.063)
(1,623} (2,052)
(118} (131}
(73,581) (85,625)
326,310 334,501
284 284
293,570 303,816
293,854 304,100
32,456 30,401
326,310 334,501




Balance sheet
at 31 December 2009

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries

Orther investments

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Amounts due from group undertakings
Current income rax asset

Total current assets

Current liabulities
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to group undertakings

Total current liabilities
Net current liabilsties
Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current Liabilities
Deferred tax liabilines

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

Equity
Called up share capural
Resetves

Shareholders’ funds

Approved on 29 Apnl 2010 by the board of

directors and signed on their behalf by
M C Perlans '

Chairman }/

Registered Number 29559

Notes

19
21

25

28

3

2009 2008
£000 £000
73,683 73,683
7,512 7.316
81,195 80,999
5,702 5,123
74 74
5,776 5197
(18) {20)
(21,275) (21,275)
(21,293) (21,295)
(15,517) {16,098)
65,678 64,901
(337) (337)
(337) (337)
65,341 64,564
284 284
65,057 64,280
65,341 64,564
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Camellia Plc

Consolidated cash flow statement
fbr the year ended 31 December 2009

Cash generated from operauons
Cash flows from operating activities
Interest pad

Income taxes paid

Interest received

Dividends recerved from associates

Net cash flow from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activitics
Purchase of intangible assets

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets
Part disposal of a substdiary

Disposal of a subsidiary

Acquisition of subsidiary (net of cash acquired)
Purchase of minorry inrerests

Proceeds from sale of associate

Proceeds from sale of investments
Purchase of investments

Income from Lnpvestments

Net cash flow from invesung activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Equity dividends paid

Dividends paid te minority interests
New loans

Repayment of debr

Net cash flow from financing activities

Nct increasc 1n cash and cash cquivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of yecar

Exchange (losses)/gains on cash

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Notes

32

34
34

24

24

restated

2009 2008
£000 £000
48,038 29,087
(1,747} (2,503}
{10,074} (4,720)
1,189 579
2,297 2,884
39,703 25,327
(192) (602)
(10,111) (8,091)
697 852
579 302
3,843 _
- (4,120)

- (177)

- 83

5,509 7,188
{12,683) (7.185)
1,106 1,070
(11,252) (10,680)
(2,557) (2,557)
(2,610) {896)
788 738
(4,883) (4.356)
(9,262) (7,071}
19,189 7.576
9,919 758
(477) 1,585
28,631 5919

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash cquivalents are included net of overdrafts repayable on demand
These overdrafts are excluded from the definition of cash and cash equivalents disclosed on che balance sheer
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Cash flow statement
Jor the year ended 31 December 2009

Cash generated from operauons
Profit before tax

Adjustments for

Gain on disposal of investments
Incerest income

Dividend 1income

Dividends from group companies
Decrease in trade and other payables

Net movement 1n intra-group balances

Cash used 1n operauons
Interest received

Nct cash flow from opcrating activities

Cash flows from investing acuviues
Proceeds from sale of investments
Purchase of investments

Dividends recetved

Net cash flow from investing actvittes

Cash flows from finanang acuviues

Equity dividends pad
Net cash flow from financing activities

Net movement 1o cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equrvalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2009 2008
£000 £000
3,376 3.869

17) (56
(62) (280}
- (12}
(4,000) (4,000)
(2) -
(579 (1,217)
(1,284) (1,696)
62 280
(1,222) (1,416)
37 119
(200} (100)
4,000 4,012
3,837 4,031
(2,615) {2.615)
(2,615) (2,615)
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Camellia Plc

Statement of changes in equity
Jor the year ended 31 December 2009

Share Share Treasury Remaned Other Minority Total
capital  premium shares  earmings  reserves Toral nterest cquity

£'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Group
At 1 January 2008 284 15,298 (400) 212,286 38,803 266,271 20,870 287,141
Total comprehensive (expensc}/income for the year - - - {14,265) 55.283 41,018 10,437 51,455
Dindends - - - {2557) - {2.557) (896)  (3.453)
Reclassification of investment to an assoclate - - - - 653) (653) - (653)
Minority interest subseriprion - - - - - - 260 260
Change 1n composiuon of group - - - 126 - 126 (270} (144)
Share of associate’s change in treasury shares - - - “9 - 49 - “9
Share of assoctates other equity movements - - - 268 - 268 - 268
Loss on dilunion of interest 1n associate - - - {324 - (324) - (324)
At 31 December 2008 284 15,298 (400) 195,485 93,433 304,100 30401 334,501
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year - - - 14,926 (22,80%) {7.87%) 4,163 (3.716)
Dividends - - - (2.557) - {2557y (26100 (5167}
Minority mterest subscription - - - - - - 502 502
Share of assoctate’s change in treasury shares - - - 200 - 200 - 200
Share of associate’s other equity movements - - - 27 - 27 - 27
Loss on diluion of interest in associate - - - (37) - (37 - {37}
At 31 December 2009 284 15,298 (400) 208,044 70,628 293,854 32,456 326,310
Company
At 1 January 2008 284 15,298 - 35,596 12,132 63.310 - 63,310
Toral comprehensive income for the year - - - 3,869 - 3,869 - 3,869
Divnidends - - - (2.615) - (2,615) - (2,615)
At 31 December 2008 284 15,298 - 36,850 12,132 64,564 - 64,564
Tortal comprehensive incame for the year - - - 3,392 - 3,392 - 3,392
Dradends - - - (2.615) - (2,615) - (2,615)
At 31 December 2009 284 15,298 - 37,627 12,132 65,341 - 65,341

Other reserves of the group and company includes 2 £31,000 (2008 £31,000) capital redemption reserve and, tn respece of the group,
net exchange differences of £27,258,000 surplus (2008 £49,310,000 surplus)

Exchange differences are stated net of exchange gains of £321,000 (2008 £1,369,000 fosses) on foreign currency borrowings used to
provide a hedge against foreign equity investments

Group retained earnings includes £75,563,000 (2008 £60,253,000) which would require exchange control permission for remuttance
as dividends
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Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparanion of these financial statements are set out below These policies have
been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated

Basis of preparation
The consoldared financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Internanional Financial Reporung Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU

The consolidared financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as modified by the revaluauon of land
and buildings, biolegical assets, agricultural produce, available-for-sale investments, financial assets and financial liabiliies

held-for-trading

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes 1n presentation 1n the current year
Basis of conscolidation

Subsidiaries
The consolsdared financial statements 1ncorporate the financial statements of the company and enuues controlled by the
company {its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year

On acquusition, the assets and habilities of a subsidiary are measured ar their fair values at the date of acquisition Any excess

of the cost of acquisiion over the fair values of the idenufiable ner assets acquired 1s recognised as goodwill Any deficiency of
the cost of acquisiuon below the fair values of the 1denufiable net assets acquired (1 e discount on acquisition) 1s credited to the
income statement in the period of acquisiion The interest of minority shareholders 1s stated at the minonty’s proportion of
the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included 1n the consolidated income statement from the
effecuve dare of acquisition or disposal, as appropriate

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounung palicies used 1nto
line with those used by the group

All intra-group transactions, balances, mncome and expenses are eliminated on consolidarion

Assoriates
An associate 15 an entity over which the group 1s 1n a position to exercise significant influence, but not control or joint control,
through participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of that enoty

Investments 1n associates are accounted for by the equiry method of accounung Under this method the group’s share of the

Y quiry g group
post-acquisition profits or losses of assaciates 15 recognused 1n che income statement and 1ts share of post-acquisition movements
In reserves 15 recogmsed 1n reserves

Foreign currency translation

Transactions in currencies other than pounds sterling are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions At each balance sheer date, monetary assets and lrabiliies chat are denominated 1n foreign currencaes are
tetranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date Translacion differences on non-monetary items carried ar fair
value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss Gains and losses ansing on retranslanon are included in the income
statement, except for exchange differences arising on non-monetary items where the changes 1n fair value are recogrused
directly 1n equity

The consolidated financial stacements are presented in sterling which 1s the company’s functional and presentanion currency
On consolidation, :ncome statements and cash flows of foreign entinies are translated into pounds stering at average exchange
rates for the year and their balance sheers are translared at the exchange rates ruling ac the balance sheet date Exchange
differences ansing from the translation of the net investment 1n foreign entcies and of borrowings designated as hedges of such
investments, are taken to sharcholders’ equity When a foreign enuty 1s sold such exchange differences arising since 1 January
2004 are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal

Goodwill and farr value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign enuty are treated as assets and hiabiliues of che
foreign ennity and translared ar the exchange rate ruling on the date of acquisinon The group has elected to treat goodwill and
fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions pror to 1 January 2004 as sterling denominated assets and labihties
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Accounting policies

Revenue recognition

Revenue 1s measured ac the fair value of the consideration received or recevable and represents amounts receivable for goods
and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, value added tax and other sales relazed raxes and after
eliminating intra-group sales

Interest income and expense ansing through the group’s banking operarions are recognised 1in the income statement for all
mstruments measured at amorused cost using the effecuve interest meched and 15 staced nec of 1ncerest pard

The effective interest method 1s a method of calculating the amorused cost of a financial asset or a financial liabiliry and

of allacating the interest itncome or 1nterest expense over the relevant petiod The effective interest rate 1s the rate thar

exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected bife of the financial instrument or, when
appropriate, a shorter period to the ner carrying ameunt of the financial asset or financial lability When caleulating the
effective interest rate, the group esumates cash flows considering all contractual cerms of the finanaizl instrument {for example,
prepayment oprions) but does not consider furure credic losses The catculation includes all fees and points pard or received
between parues to the contract that are an integral part of the effecave interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or
discounts Once a financial asset or a group of sumilar financial assets has been written down as a resulr of an impairment loss,
interest income 1s recognised using the rate of iterest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss

Fees and commussions are for portfolio and other management advisory services and are recognised based on the applicable
service contracts, usually on a ume-apporuoned basis

In respect of engineering services, revenue is recogrused based upon the stage of completion and includes costs incurred to date,
plus accrued profits

Invoices are raised when goods are desparched or when the risks and rewards of ownership otherwise irrevocably pass to the
customer

Segmental reporting

The adoptron of IFRS 8 requures operatng segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports used to assess performance
and allocate resources by the chief operaung decision maker The chief operanng decision maker has been idenufied as che
Executive Commuttee led by the Chairman The adopuon of this standard has not resulted in any change to the segments
reported previously with ‘trading profit’ maintained as the reportable measure of profit or loss Inter segment sales are not
significant

Intangible assews

(1) Goodwnll
Goodwill ansing on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the group's interest tn che fair value of
the idenufiable assets and lhiabdiues of a subsidiary or associace ac the dace of acquisieon

Goodwill 1s recognised as an asset and reviewed for impairment ar least annually Any impairment 15 recognised immedrarely o
the income statemenc and 1s not subsequently reversed

On disposal of a subsidiary or associate, the actniburable amount of goodwill 1s included 1n the determination of the profit or
loss on disposal

(i1) Idenufiable intangible assets

Idenufiable intangible assets include customer relationships and other intangible assets acquired on the acquisition of
subsidiaries Acquired intangible assets wich finite hives are amorused on a straight-line basis over therr estimated useful hives,
not exceeding 20 years Intangible assets’ escumated lives are re-evaluated annually and an impairment test 15 carried out 1f
certain indicators of imparrment exist

(111) Computer software
Acquired computer software licences are capatalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software Compurer sofitware licences are held at cost and are amortised on a scraight-line basis over 3 1o 7 years

Costs assoarated with developing or mamtaining computer software programemes are recognused as an expense as wncurred
Costs that are directly associated with idenufiable and unique sofrware products controlled by the group and which are
expected to generate econemic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as an inangible asset and amorused
over their esnmated useful lives
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Property, plant and equipment

Land and bwildings compnses mainly factories and offices All property, plant and equipment ts shown at cost less subsequent
depreciation and impairment, except for land, which 1s shown at cost less impairment Cost includes expenditure that 15
directly attributable to the acqutsition of these assets

On transition to IFRS, the group followed the transitional provisions and elected that previous UK GAAP revaluacions be
treated as deemed cost

Subsequent costs are included 1n the asser’s carrying amount, only when 11 15 probable that future cconomic benefits assocrated
with the wem will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably Repairs and maintenance are charged to
the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred

No depreciation 1s provided on frechold land Depreciation of other fixed assets 15 calculated o write off their cost less residual
value over their expected useful lLives

The rates of depreciation used for the other assets are as follows -

Freehold and long leasechold buildings nil to 10 per cent per annum |
Other short leaschold land and buildings unexpired term of the lease '
Plant, machinery, fixtures, fittings and equipment 4 to 33 per cent per annum

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets, or, where
shorter, over the term of the relevant lease

The assets’ residual values and useful hives are reviewed, and adjusted 1f appropriare, at each balance sheet date

The gain or loss ansing on the disposal or retirement of an asset 1s determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and 15 included in the income statement |

Biological assets
Biological assets are measured on inital recognition and at each balance sheet date at fair value Any changes in fair value are
recognised in the income statement in the year in which they anse

The fair value of ivestock 15 based on market prices of livestock of similar age and sex Where meanngful market-derermined
prices do not exist to assess the fair value of the group’s other biological assets, the fait value 1s determined based on the ner
present value of expected cash flows, discounted at appropriate current market-determined pre-tax rates

Impairment of asscts

Assets that have an indefintte useful hife are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment and whenever

events or changes 1n circumstance indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable Assets thar are subject to

amorusacion are tested for impairment whenever events or changes 1n circumstances indicate thar the carrying amounr may not

be recoverable An impairment loss 15 recognised for the amount by which the asser’s carrying amount exceeds 1ts recoverable

amount The recoverable amount 15 the higher of an asser’s fair value less costs to sell and value 1n use For the purpases

of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 1dentfiable cash flows {cash- ‘
generating unigs)

Investments

Investments are recognised and de-recogmised on a trade date when a purchase or sale of an investment 1s under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the investment within the nmeframe established by the market concerned, and are imually
measured at cost, sncluding transaction costs

Held-to-matunity invesements are non-denivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed macuniuies
that the group’s management has the posiuve intenuon and ability to hold to matunty Were the group to sell other thanaa
insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assess, the ennre category would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale

Available-for-sale financial assecs include shares of listed and unhisted companies Listed shares are measured at subsequent
reporting dates ar fair value The fair values of listed shares are based on current bid values Other investments such as shares of
unhisted companies, documents, manuscnipts 2nd philately are measured at cost as fair value cannot be rehably measured
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Investments (continued)

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognused directly tn equity, unal the 1nvestment 15 disposed of or 1s
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 1n equity 1s included 1n the net
profit or loss for the period

Investments in substdiary compantes are included art cost

Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group has substanually all the nisks and rewards of ownershup are classified
as finance leases Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of fair value and the estimated present
value of the underlying lease payments Each lease payment is allocated berween the hiability and finance charges so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the finance balance outstanding The corresponding rental obligauons, net of finance
charges, are included in liabiliies The 1nterest elemenc of the finance cost 1s charged to the income statement over the lease
petiod Propercy, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases 1s depreciated over the shorrer of the asser’s useful hife and
the lease term

Leases where a sigmificant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are rerained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straighr-line basts over the period of the
lease

Inventories

Agricultural produce at the peint of harvest 15 measured at fair value less esumated point-of-sale costs Any changes ansing on
inttial recognttion of agnicultural produce at far value less estimated point-of-sale costs are recognused 1n the income statement
in the year in which they anse

Other invencories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost comprises direct materals and, where applicable,
direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incutred 1n bringing the mventones to their present location and
condiion Cost 1s calculated using the weighted average method Net realisable value represents the esumated selling price less
all esimated costs of completion and selling expenses

Trade and other recervables

Trade recervables are carried at ariginal invoice amount less provision made for impairment of these recervables A provision
for impairment of trade receivables 1s established when there 1s objectve evidence that the group will not be able to collecr all
amounts due according to the onginal terms The amount of the provision 1s recognised 1n che income statement

Amounts due from customers of banking subsidiaries consist of loans and recervables which are non-denvatve financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an acuve market They ansc when the bank provides money, goods
or services directly to a customer with no intention of trading the recervable and are carried at amortised cost using the effecuve
interest method

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at cafl with banks, other short-term highly hquid 1nvestments
with origial matunnes of three months ot less, and bank overdrafts Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings 1n current
liabilities on the balance sheet In respect of the group's banking operation, cash and cash equivalents include cash and non-
restricted balances with central banks, treasury bills and other eligible bills, loans and advances to banks, amounts due from
other banks and short-term government securites

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and farr value less costs to sell

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction racher than
through conunuing use Thus condition 1s regarded as mer only when the sale 1s highly probable and the asset 1s available for
immeduate sale 1n 1ts present condition Management must be commutted to the sale which should be expected o qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the dare of classificauon
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Borrownings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafis are inieally recorded at the proceeds recerved, ner of direct issue costs Finance
charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accrual basis
to the income statement using the effecuve interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the
extent that they are not settled 1n the pertod 1n which they arise

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and defecred rax

The tax currently payable 15 based on taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported 1n the income
statement because it excludes 1ems of income or expense thar are taxable or deducuble in other years and 1t further excludes
ttems that are never taxable or deductible The group hability for current tax 1s caleulated using tax rates thac have been enacred
or substantively enacted by the balance sheer date

Deferred tax 15 the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences berween the carrying amount of assets and liabihities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the compurarion of taxable profit, and 1s accounted for
using the liabilicy method Deferred tax 1s not accounted for if 1t anses from 1nieial recognition of an asset or hability 1n 2
transaction, other than m a business combination, thar at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss Deferred tax 1s determined using cax races and laws that have been enacted or substanuvely enacted by the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related tax asset 1s reahised or the tax hability 15 serrled

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 1t 15 probable that future taxable profic will be avatlable agatnst which the
temporary differences can be utihised

Deferred rax 15 provided on temporary differences anising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the uming
of the reversal of the temporary difference 1s controlled by the group and it 1s probable that the emporary difference will not
teverse In the foresceable future

Employee benefits

(1) Pension obligations
Group companics operate vanous pensien schemes The schemes are funded through payments ro insurance companics or
trustec-administered funds The group has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans

A defined benefic plan 15 a pension plan that defines an amounc of pension benefic that an employee will receive on renrement,
usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation The pension cost for defined benefic
schemes 1s assessed 1n accordance wath the advice of qualified independent actuaries using che “projected unit” funding

method

A defined contrbution plan 1s a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contributions o a separare fund The group
has no legal or constructive abligations to pay further contriburions to the fund Contrnibutions are recognised as an expense 1n
the income statement when they are due

The hability recogmised 1n the balance sheet 1n respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined
benefic obligation at the balance sheet date less the fatr value of plan assets Independent actuartes calculate the obligation
anaually using the “projected unit” funding method Actuartal gains and losses are recognised 10 full in the peniod 1n which
they accur, they are not recognised in the income statement and are presented 1n the statemenc of comprehensive income

(1) Other post-employment bencfit obligauons

Some group companies have unfunded cbligations to pay terminal grarurties to employees Provisions are made for the
esumated hability for gratuities as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheer date and any movement in
the provision s recognused in the income statement

The esnmated monetary labilicy for employees’ accrued annual leave entitlement at the balance sheer date 1s recognised as an
accrual

Provisions
Provisions are recogrused when the group has a present obligation (egal or construcnive) as a result of a past event, 1e 1s
probable that an oudflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated

The provision for onerous lease commutments 1s based on the expected vacancy period
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Criucal accounting esimates and judgements
Esumates and judgemenss arc conunually evaluated and are based on histonical experience and other factors, including
expectattons of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

The group makes estmates and assumprions concerning the future The resulung accounung will, by defimition, seldem equal
the actual results The estimates and assumptions that have a significant nsk of causing a material adjusement to the carrying
amounts of assets and [abilities wichin the next financial year are set out below

Impairment of assets

The group has sigmificant investments 1n intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, biological assets, assocrated
companies and other investments These assets are tested for impairment when circumstances indicate there may be a potenual
impairment Factors constdered which could trigger an impairment review include the significant fall in market vaiues,
significant underperformance refanive t histonical or projected future operatng results, a major change in market condiuons or
negative cash flows

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreaiation and amorusation 1s based on management esumates of the future useful hfe of property, plant and equipment
and tntangible assets Estmates may change due to technological developments, competition, changes 1n market condinons
and ocher factors and may result in changes in the estimated useful Iife and 1n the depreciation and amorusanion charges

Biological assets

Biological assets are carnied at fair value less esumated point-of-sale costs Where meamngful market-determined prices do not
exist to assess the fair value of biclogical assets, the fair value has been derermined based on the net present value of expected
future cash flows from those assets, discounted at appropriate pre-tax rates In determining the fair value of biological assets
where the discounting of expected future cash flows has been used, the directors have made certain assumptions about expected
life-span of the planungs, yields, selling prices, costs and discounr rates

Retirement benefit obligations

Pension accounting requires certain assumptions to be made in order to value obligauons and to determine the impact on
the income statement These figures are particularly sensitive to assumptions for discount rates, morwality, inflation rates and
expected long-rerm rates of return on assets Details of assumptions made are given in note 29

Taxation

The group 1s subject to taxes in numerous jurisdictions Significant judgement 1s required 1n determining worldwide provisions
for taxes There are many transactions and calculations durning the ordinary course of business for which the ulumate tax
determination 1s uncertain

Idenufiable intangible asscts — customer relationships

Customer relationshtps acquired are valued using discounted cash flow techniques and amorused over their esumated useful
lives In determining their value and their subsequent useful life, management arc required to make assumptions in relauon to
expected cash flows, applicable discount facrors, and client atericon rates
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Changes 1n accounung policy and disclosures
(1) New and amended standards adopted by the group
The group has adopted the following new and amended IFRSs as of 1 January 2009

1AS 1 (revised)

[AS 19 (amendment)

1AS 23 (revised)

IAS 41 (revised)

IFRS 8

Presentation of financial statements — effecave 1 January 2009

The revisions to this standard prohibits the presentatton of itemns of income and expenditure
within the statement of changes tn equity All items of income and expenditure are required

o be shown 1n a performance statement, bur entities can choose whether o present one
performance statement (the ‘statement of comprehensive ncome’) or two statements (the
‘income statemnent’ and ‘statement of comprehensive income’) The group has opted for the two
starement option Also, whete entities restate or reclassify comparatve informanon, they will

be required to present a restated balance sheet as at the beginning of the comparatve period in
addiuen to the currenc requirement to present balance sheets at the end of the current period
and the comparanve period As the change 1n accounung policy only impacts presentauon
aspects, there 1s no impact on earnings per share

Employee benefits — effective 1 January 2009

The principal effect of the amendment 15 to clanify that a plan amendment that results 1n

a change in the extent to which benefit promuses are affected by future salary increases s a
curtailment, while an amendment that changes benefits attributable to past service gives nse to
a negarive past service cost if 1t results 1n a reduction in the present value of the defined benefic
obligation This amendment has no materal impact

Botrowing costs ~ effective 1 January 2009

The revisions to this standard require capitalisacon of borrowing costs incurred on qualifying
assets together with transitional provisions for companies who have previously written off such
costs In respect of borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for which che commencement
date for capitalisauion 15 on or after 1 January 2009, the group capualises borrowing costs
directly aunbutable to the acquisinon, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part
of the cost of that asset The group previausly recognised all borrowing costs as an expense
immediately, 1n accordance with the transiuon provisions of the standard, comparanve figures
have not been restated The change 1n accounung policy had no matenal impacr on earnings

per share .

Agnculture — effecuve 1 January 2009

The revistons to this standard now allow the use of either pre or post tax discount rates when
measuring fair values The IASB has also clanified that the impact of additional biological
transformation or harvest may be taken 1nto account in determuning cash flows for the purpose
of estmating fair values This revision has no material impact

Operaung segments — effectve 1 January 2009

The adoption of this standard requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal reparts used to assess performance and allocate resources by the chief operating decision
maker The adopuon of this standard has not resulted 1n any change to the segments reported
previously with ‘trading profit’ maintatned as the reportable measure of profit or loss
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Changes 1n accounung policy and disclosures (continued)

{11) Standards, amendments and interpretations to exisung standards that are not yet effective and have not been carly
adopted by the group

The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the group’s

accounung pertods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 or lacer periods, bur the group has not early adopted them

‘ IFRIC 17 Dustribution of non-cash assets to owners — effective on or after 1 July 2009

The 1nterpretation was published in Novemnber 2008 This interpretauon provides guidance
\ on accounang for arrangements whereby an enury distributes non-cash assets to shareholders
ewther as a distribution of reserves or as dividends IFRS 5 has also been amended to requure thar
! assets are classified as held for distribution only when they are available for distribution in thewr
present conditon and the distribution 15 haghly probable The group and company will apply
IFRIC 17 from 1 January 2010 It is not expected to have a matenial impace on the group or
comnpany’s financial statements

IAS 27 (revised) Consolidated and separate financial statements - effective from 1 July 2009

The revisions to this standard requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary
(without loss of control) 15 accounted for as an equuty transaction Therefore, such transactions
will no longer give nise 1o goedwill, nor wall they give nise to a gain or loss The standard also
speaifies the accounung when control 1s lost Any remaining 1nterest in the entity 15 re-measured
to fair value, and a gain or loss s recognised 1n profit o1 loss The group will apply 1AS 27
{(revised) prospectively to transactions with non-conurolling incerests from 1 January 2010

IFRS 3 {revised) Business combinanions - effective from 1 July 2009

The revised standard contnues to apply the acquisition method to business combinauons, with
some significant changes For example, all payments to purchase a business are to be recorded
at fair value at the acquisinon date, with contingent payments classified as debt subsequently
re-measured through the income statement There 15 a choice on an acquisiion-by-acquisition
basis to measure the non-contrelling interest in the acquiree erther at fatr vale or at the non-
conzrolling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets All acquisinon-related
costs should be expensed The group will apply IFRS 3 (revised) prospectively to all business
combinations from 1 January 2010

IAS 38 (amendment)  Intangible assets

The amendment is part of the LASB’s annual improvements project published 1n Apnl 2009
and che group will apply IAS 38 (amendment) from the date IFRS 3 {revised) 15 adopted The
amendment clanfies guidance in measuring the fair value of an intangible asset acquired 11 a
business combination and 1t permuts the grouping of intangible assets as a single asset 1f each
asser has a stmular useful economic hife The amendment 15 not expected to have a matenal
impact on the group's financial statements

IFRS S (amendment})  Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations — effecuve from 1 January 2010

The amendment 1s part of the 1ASB’s annual improvements project published 1n Apnl 2009
The amendment provides clarificauon that IERS 5 specifies the disclosures requured 1n respect
of non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or disconunued operations

It also clanfies that the general requirement of IAS 1 sull apply, paruculatly paragraph 15 (to
achieve a fair presentation) and paragraph 125 (sources of estimation uncertainty) of LAS 1 lIeas
not expected to have a matenal impact on the group or company’s financial statements
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Notes to the accounts

1 Bustness and geographical segments

The principal acuvines of the group are as follows

Agnculture and horuculture

Engineening

Food storage and distnbunion
Banking and financial services

For management reperung purposes these activities form the basis on which the group reports its primary divisions

Segment informanon about these businesses 15 presented below

Revenuc
Excernal sales

Trading profit
Segment prof/(loss}

Unallocated corporate expenses

Trading proft
Share of associates’ results
Loss on disposal of 2 subsidiaty

Profit on part disposal of a
substdiary

Profis on disposal of available-
for sale investments

Profic on dispotal of an asteciate

Profic on disposal of nan-
current assets

Gain anging from changes tn

Earr value of brological assers
[nvestment income

Net finance costs

Profi before tax

Taxation

Profix after (ax

Ocher informstion

Segment assers

Investments 1o assocrates

Unallocated assets
Consolidared 1oral assers

Segmen: luabihitses
Unallocated lubtsues

Consolidated tora) Labilities

Czpatal expenditure
Deprecation

Amortisation

Agricultuce and Food storage Banlung and
hormeul Eng '3 and disenib 3 I services Ocher op Consalidated
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
£000 £o00 £000 £000 £000 L0060 £000 L'000 £000 L0900 £000 £000
156,974 116297 24,028 23019 37434 36922 11,347 13930 447 353 230270 190 55!
37,949 23342 1608 1814 985 1156 (925) 666 18t 75 39798 27060
(4438) G859
35360 2320!
132 3,805 3324 (6T} (12075) (2966} (86I2)
(674) -
135 104
28 390
- 350
- 280
2,746 8916 2,746 8 96
L 105 1 o070
(1592} (1359}
34 143 24 040
(11,702) (7547
12441 16493
218370 222915 15455 15725 2395\ 2642F 261062 312596 3987 3.344 511815 38004
31681 32891 65683 76992 97364 02883
52586 357013
672769 747897
(31252) (37208 (3.364) (373) (45000 (5732) (232798) (283472} (55} (462} (271 969) (330 608}
(74,490) (a2 7s8}
{346 459) (413356}
6816 6304 1739 1,071 1,359 777 147 29¢ 50 103 101 8,545
397 (3563 937) (840) (2,783  (2,951) (343} 2z {19 (173) (8099 (7.818)
(43} (27} (6) 5) 537) (445) (586) (477)

Scgment assets consist primanly of intangible assecs, property, plant and equipment, biological assets, prepaid operating
leases, inventories, trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents Recervables for rax have been excluded
Investmenss n associates, valued using the equity method, have been shown separately 1n the segment informauon
Segment habilities are primanily those relaung to the operaung acuvines and genesally exclude habilittes for raxes, shore-
term loans, finance leases and non-current liabilities
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1 Business and geographical segments (continued)}

Geographical segments

The group operations are based 1n nine main geographical areas The Uniced Kingdom 15 the home country of the
parent The principal geographical areas in which the group operates are as follows

United Kingdom
Continental Eurape

India

Kenya

Malaw1

Bangladesh

North America and Bermuda
South Africa

South Amenica

The following table provides an analysis of the group’s sales by geographical market, trrespective of the origin of the

goods/services

United Kingdom
Conunental Europe

India

Kenya

Malaws

Bangladesh

North America and Bermuda
South Africa

South Amenca

Other

2009 2008
£000 £000
76,088 70,995
24,100 23,099
62,258 16,958
20,159 16,042
9,309 4,052
16,530 9,921
4,627 4,230
3,908 2,510
4,878 5,387
8,413 7,350
230,270 150,551

The following 1s an analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets and addiuons to property, plant and equipmenr,
analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are located

United Kingdom
Conunental Europe

India

Kenya

Malaw:

Bangladesh

North America and Bermuda
South Africa

South America

36

Carrying amount of
segment assets

Addiuons ro property,
plant and equipment

2009 2008 2009 2008
£000 £000 £000 £000
296,088 348,694 3,096 2,053
5,244 5799 168 173
61,835 58,155 4,070 2,893
56,179 55,276 575 931
37,072 39576 547 813
38,173 41,137 510 192
6,297 7,428 452 149
10,995 10,279 Nn 152
10,942 14,657 602 1,189
522,825 581,001 16,111 8,545
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Business and geographical segments (conttnued)
Results of banking subsidiaries

Interest recervable third parties

gToup companies

Interest payable third parties
group compantes

Net interest income
Fee and commussion income

Fee and commussion expense
Inter-segment net 1nterest
Revenue

Orher operaung income

Operaung expenses

Segment (Joss)/profit

Revenue

An analysis of the group's revenue 1s as follows

Sale of goods

Dustribution and warehousing revenue
Engincering services revenue

Banking service revenue

Agency commission revenue

Property rental revenue

Other operating income
Investment income

Interest income

Total group revenue

2009 2008
£000 £000
3,214 14,304

7 43
3,221 14,347
(1,393) (10.438)
61) (291)
1,767 3,618
9,925 10,820
(399} (756)
54 248
11,347 13,930
148 169
11,495 14,099
(12,420) (13.433)

(925) 666
2009 2008
£000 £060

156,974 116,297
37,434 36,922
24,028 23,019
11,347 13,930

191 139

296 244
230,270 190,551
1,698 2,206
1,106 1070
1,103 643
234,177 194,470
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Trading profit

The following 1tems have been included 1n arnving at trading profic
Employment costs {note 13)
Inventories
Cost of inventores recognised as an expense (included in cost of sales)
Cost of inventories provision recognised as an expense (included in cost of sales)
Cost of inventories provision reversed {included 1n cost of sales)
Depreciauon of property, plant and equipment
Owned assets
Under finance leases
Amortisation of intangibles (included 1n administrative expenses)
Impairment of investments (tncluded 1n administrative expenses)
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equ:pment
Operatng leases - lease payments
Plant and machinery
Property
Repairs and maintenance expenditure on property, plant and equipment
Currency exchange losses/{gains) charged/(credited) to income include
Revenue
Cost of sales
Dustribution costs
Administrative expenses
Qther operating income

Finance costs

Amounts paid to the group's auditors compnrised
Audat services

Starutory audit

Audit — related regulatory reporting
Tax services

Compliance services

Advisory services

Other services not covered above

2009 2008
£000 £7000
65,518 61,165
99,224 93,535
311 200
aan (28)
7,195 6.747
904 L071
586 477
204 350
(264) (239)
471 661
707 647
4,112 3.830
79 58

56 142

11 (286)

146 (45)

(6} )
(160) 262
126 124
732 710

35 24

17 16

33 37

36 26

853 813

Included 10 the above group audut fees and expenses 15 £718,000 (2008 £358,000) paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP and 15 associates for staturory audir services, £35,000 (2008 £24,000) for audut related regulatory reporung,

£34,000 (2008 £33,000) for taxanon services and £12,000 (2008 £19,000) for other services

The 2008 figures include amounts paid to the previous auditors, Moore Stephens LLP and 15 associates
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4 Share of associates” results
The group’s share of the results of associates 1s analysed below

2009 2008

£000 £000
Operaung profic 2,516 6,448
Net finance costs (2,653} (825)
Imparrment (3,103) (15,691)
Loss befare tax (3,240) (10,068)
Taxaton 274 1,456
Loss after rax {2,966} (8.612)

The impairment charge of £3,103,000 relates to development projects of the Siegfried Group In 2008, the impatrment

charge of £153,691,000 related to goodwill and non-financial assers of the Siegfried Group

The results include the group’s share of the profits of West Hamulcon Holdings Limited, a Bermudian based property

company, which became an associate with effeet from 1 July 2008

5 Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

Loss on disposal of z substdiary
Release of exchange differences from reserves upon disposal

2009 2008
£000 £000
{968) -
294 -
(674 -

Thas relates to the disposal of the group’s 100 per cent Chilean subsidiary, Hacienda Chada § A

6 Profit on part disposal of a subsidiary

A profit of £135,000 (2008 £104,000) was rcahised on the disposal by Kakuzi Limuted of a further 17 per cent (2008

10 per cent ) of its interest 1 Siret Tea Company Limited to EPK Qutgrowers Empowerment Project Company

Limated, a company mainly owned by smallholders 1n Kenya

7 Profit on disposal of an associate

in 2008, the group reahised a net profit of £50,000 on the disposal of 1ts assocrate interest 1n Himalaya Goodricke PVT

Limuted
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Finance income and costs

Interest payable on loans and bank overdrafis
Interest payable on obligations under finance leases

Total borrowing costs
Net exchange gain/{loss) on foreign currency borrowings

Finance costs
Finance income — 1nterest tncome on short-term bank deposits

Penston schemes’ net financing (expense)/income (note 29)

Net finance costs

The above figures do not include any amounts relating to the banking subsidiaries

2009 2008
£000 £000
(1,586) (2.057)

(140 (181)
(1,726) (2,238)
160 (262)
(1,566) (2,500)
1,103 643
(1,129) 498
(1,592) (1.359)
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Taxauon on profit on ordinary acuvities

Analysis of charge in the year

£000

Current tax
UK corporation tax
UK corporation tax at 28 0 per cent (2008 28 0 per cent ) 3,555
Adjustment in respect of prior years 135
Double tax relief (3,548)
Foreign tax
Corporation tax 11,648
Adjustment in respect of prior years 204
Total current tax
Deferred tax
Onginanon and reversal of uming differences

United Kingdom (1,782)

Overseas 1,490
Total deferred tax

Tax on profit on ordinary acuvities

Factors affecung tax charge for the year
Profit on ordinary activities before tax
Share of associated undertakings loss

Group profit on ordinary activities before tax

Tax on ordinary acuvities at the standard rate
of corporation tax 1n the UK of 28 G per cent (2008 28 0 per cent }

Effects of

Adjustment 1o tax in respect of prior years

Expenses not deductible for tax purposcs

Adjustment in respect of foreign tax rates

Addinonal tax arising on dividends from overseas companies
Loss /(profit) on disposal of non taxable assets

Other income not charged 1o tax

Increase in tax losses carried forward

Decrease in tax losses carried forward

Mov:m:nt in unrcmltttd cﬂrnlngs OFOVCISCES assplates

Movement 1n other uming differences

Current tax charge for the year

2009 2008
£000 £000
2474
61)
(2,459)
142 (46)
7,021
{239)
11,852 6,782
11,994 6,736
(2.310)
3121
(292) 8i1
11,702 7547
34,143 24,040
(2,966) (8.612)
37,109 32,652
10,391 9,143
339 (300)
2,066 413
1,149 45
327 188
143 (86)
(633) 214
359 887
(14) (167)
2,637) (2,223}
212 (139)
11,702 7,547

The standard rate of corporation tax in the UK changed from 30 per cent to 28 per cent with effect from 1 Apnl 2008
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Profit for the year

The profit of the company was

2009
£000

3,376

2008
£000

3,869

The company has taken the exemprion under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2606 not to disclose the company's

income statement

Equity dividends

Amounts recogrused as distributions to equity holders in the period

Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008 of
72 00p (2007 72 00p) per share

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2009 of
20 00p (2008 20 00p) per share

Dividends amounting to £58,000 (2008 £58.000) have not been included as group companies hold 62,500 issued

shares 1n the company These are classified as treasury shares

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2009 of

74 00p (2008 72 00p) per share

2009 2008
£000 £o00
2,001 2,001

556 556
2,557 2,557

2,103

2,046

The proposed final dividend 1s subject to approval by the shareholders ar the annual general meeting and has not been

tncluded as a habilicy in these financial statements

Earnings per share (EPS)
2009
Weighted
averape
nurnber of

Earnings shares
£000 Number

Basic and diluted EPS

Attributable to ordinary
shareholders 15,897 2,779,500

EPS

Pence

5719

Earnings
£000

11,044

2008
Werghted
averdge
number
of shares
Number

2,779,500

EPS

Pence

3973

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the earnings atmbutable to ordinary shareholders by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issuc duning the period, excluding those held by the group as treasury

shares (nore 31)
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Employees
2009 2008
Number Number
Average number of employees by acuvizy
Agneulture and horuculture 72,313 69,424
Engineering 367 392
Food storage and distnbunon 370 399
Banking and financial services 133 137
Central management 21 24
73,204 70,376
2009 2008
£000 £000
Employment costs
Wages and salanes 58,006 54,007
Social secunity costs 2,588 2,652
Other pension costs (see note 29} - UK 1,636 1,803
- Overseas 3,288 2,703
65,518 61,165
Total remuneranion paid 1o key employees, excluding direcrors of Camellia Plc, amounted o £503,000 (2008
£650,000)
Emoluments of the directors
2009 2008
£000 £'000
Aggregate emoluments excluding pension contributions 1,272 913

Emoluments of the highest paid director excluding pension contributions were £396,000 (2008 £372,000)

Further detatls of directors’ emoluments are set out on pages 17 and 138
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Intangible assets

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2008
Exchange differences
Additions

Ar 1 January 2009
Exchange differences
Adjustment
Additions

Disposals

Disposal of subsidiary

Ar 31 December 2009

Amortisation

Ac | January 2008
Exchange differences
Charge for the year

Ac | January 2009
Exchange differences
Charge for the year
Dusposals

Dusposal of subsidiary

At 31 December 2009

Net book value at 31 December 2009
Net book value at 31 December 2008

Goodwill 15 allocated to cash-generaung unuts for the purpose of impairment tesung The carrying amount of
the goodwill relates to the banking and financial services segment Goodwill arising in 2008 relates to additional

Customer Licenses, patents  Computer

Goodwill  relavonships and trade marks software Total
£000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
3,283 4,814 258 998 9,353
- - 16 25 41
661 - 3 599 1,263
3,944 4,814 277 1,622 10,657
- - 25 (13) i2

34 - - - 34

- - - 192 192
- - - (7} 7
- - (235) (13} (248)
3,978 4,814 67 1,781 10,640
- 389 154 564 1,107

- - 7 7 14

- 241 9 227 477

- 630 170 798 1,598

- - 13 (4) 9

- 240 7 339 586
- - - (7 7
- - {123) (7) (130)

- 87¢ 67 1,119 2,056
3978 3,944 - 662 8,584
3,944 4,184 107 824 9,059

consideration paid as a result of the acquisiton of Hill Martin Limuted 1n 2006, which was dependent upon tevenues in
Hill Marun Limited for the three years ending 30 June 2008

The group tests goodwill annually for impairment by comparning the carrying value of the cash generaung unus wich

their value 1n use The assessment of recoverability of goodwall 1s based on normal market valuation entena such
as a multiple of revenue for financial planning business and the percentage of funds under management for asset

management business
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Property, plant and equpment

Group

Deemed cost

At 1 January 2008
Exchange differences
Additions

Acquisiion of subsidiary
Disposals

At 1 January 2009
Exchange differences
Additions

Disposal of subsidiary
Dhsposals

At 31 December 2009

Deprectanion

At 1 January 2008
Exchange differences
Charge for the year
Dusposals

Acquusition of subsidizry

At 1 January 2009
Exchange differences
Charge for the year
D1sposal of subsidiary
Dusposals

At 31 December 2009
Ner book value ac 31 December 2009
Net book value ac 31 Decemnber 2008

Land and busldings at net book value comprise

Frechold
Long leaschold
Shorr leasehold

Fixtures,
Land and Plantand  fircungs and
buildings machinery equipment Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
69,396 72,614 17,603 159,613
7,384 6,658 1,033 15,075
1,700 6,127 7i8 8,545
1,757 883 113 2,753
(866) (1,474} (108) (2,448)
79,371 84,808 19,359 183,538
(2,794) (2,129) (422) (5,345}
2,930 6,334 847 10,111
(4,288) (1,570} (51) (5,909}
(122) (3,111) (321) (3,554}
75,097 84,332 19,412 178,841
27,629 47,218 8,533 83,380
2,835 3,929 810 7.574
1,923 4,819 1,076 7,818
{769) (1,252) (94) (2,115)
416 S80 98 1,094
32,034 55,294 10,423 97,751
(1,215) (1,485) (344) (3,044)
1,987 4,996 1,116 8,099
(926} (385) (33) {1,344)
7n (2,722) (319} (3.112)
31,809 55,698 10,843 98,350
43,288 28,634 8,569 80,491
47,337 29,514 8,936 85,787
2009 2008
£000 £000
32,910 35.139
8,984 10,264
1,394 1,934
43,288 47337

Plant and machinery includes assets held under finance leases The depreciauon charge for the year in respect of these
assets was £670,000 {2008 £829,000) and their net book value was £1,768,000 (2008 £2,568,000)

The amount of expenditure during the year for property, plant and equipment in the course of construction amounted

to £581,000 (2008 £1,086,000)
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Biological assets
Edible
Tea Citrus nuts Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Group
At 1 January 2008 48,427 2,207 10,089 19,910 80,633
Exchange differences 12,910 906 3,149 4,343 21,308
Increases due to purchases 1,175 579 1,890 4,302 7,946
Gains anising from changes 1n fair value
less estimated point-of-sale costs 5,185 58 1,809 1,864 8,916
Decreases due to harvesung - {392) {1,496) (5,036) (6,924}
Companies joining the group 2,199 - - 142 2,341
At | January 2009 69,896 3,358 15,441 25,525 114,220
Exchange differences {6,958) (352) {983) (1,125) (9.418)
Increases due to purchases 1,528 680 2,763 4,092 9,063
Gains/(losses) ansing from changes in
fair value less esumated point-of-sale costs 100 (2895) 1,472 1,459 2,746
Drecreases due to harvesting - (544) (2,248) (5,869) (8,661)
Companies leaving the group - (50) — (1,833) (1,883}
At 31 December 2009 64,566 2,807 16,445 22,249 106,067

Other includes grapes, avocados, pineapples, plums, livestock, forestry, rubber production and arable crops

Biological assets are carned at fair value less esumated poinc-of-sale costs Where meamngful markee-determined prices
do net exist to assess the Fair value of biological assets, the fair value has been determined based on the net present

value of expected future cash flows from those assets, discounted at appropriate pre-tax rates Ar 31 December 2008
professional valuations were obtained on a significant proportion of assets which had previously been valued using the
net present value of expected future cash flows The valuanons have been updated by professional valuers ac

31 December 2009 In determining the fair value of biological assets where the discounting of expected furure cash flows
has been used, the directors have made certain assumptions about the expected life-span of the planungs, yields, selling
prices and costs The fair value of livestock 1s based on market prices of livestock of similar age and sex

The discount rates used reflece the cost of capital, an assessment of country risk and the risks associated wich individual
crops The range of discount rates used 1s

Edible
Tea Citrus nuts Other
% % % %
2009 135 120-125 120-135 50-175
2008 135 120-125 120-135 50-175
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Brological assets (contnued)
The areas planted to the various crop types at the end of the year were

2009 2008

Hectares Heciares

Tea 34,841 34,629

Macadamia 2,560 2,293

Table grapes - 82

Wine grapes 84 214

Citrus 178 227

Avocados 377 367

Pineapples 48 48

Plums - 17

Pistachios 136 136

Timber 6,002 5,995

Rubber 1,847 1,760

Arable crops 3,407 3,546

2009 2008

Head Head

Livestock numbers on hand at the end of the year 4,738 4,458
Outpur of agnicultural produce dunng the year was

2009 2008

Metric Metrc

tonnes tonnes

Tea 70,272 72,987

Macadamia 925 1,185

Table grapes 2,041 2,093

Wine grapes 2,157 L771

Citrus 4,122 4,188

Avocados 6,319 5,983

Pineapples 1,332 26,628

Plums 335 346

Pistachios 21 654

Rubber 817 731

Arable crops 19,192 29,204

2009 2008

Cubic Cubic

metres metres

Tunber 71,419 59277

2009 2008

£000 £000

Fair value of agricultural outpur after deducting estimated point-of-sale costs 114,368 93,976
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Group

Cost

At t January 2008
Exchange differences

At 1 January 2009
Exchange differences

At 31 December 2009

Amortisation

Ac ! January 2008
Exchange differences
Charge for the year

At 1 January 2009
Exchange differences
Charge for the year

Ar 31 December 2009
Ner book value at 31 December 2009
Ner book value at 31 December 2008

Investments 1o subsidianes

Company
Cost
Ac 1 January and 31 December

2009
£000

73,683

£000

996
194

1,190
98)

1,092

14

19
(2)

18
1,074
Li7l

2008
£000

73,683
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20 Invesunents in associates

2009 2008

£'000 £000
Group
At 1 January 109,883 90,367
Exchange differences (10,521) 34616
Reclassification from financral assets - 2043
Effect of an assocrate becoming a subsidiary - (261)
Dusposals (37) (33)
Share of loss (note 4} (2,966) (8,612)
Dividends (2,297) (2,884)
Other equity movements 3,302 (5.353)
At 31 December 97,364 109,883

In 2008, West Hamulton Holdings Limited was reclassified from other investments to an investment 1n associate
Details of the group's associates are shown in note 38

The group’s share of the results of 1ts principal associates and 1ts share of the assets {including goodwill) and Liabilities are

as follows
Country of Market
INCOTPOrAUOnN Assets  Liabiliues  Revenues Profic/(loss) Interest held value
£000 £000 £'000 £000 % £'000
2008
Listed
Siegfried Holding AG Swrrzerland 112,792 (38,541) 46,711 {12,106) 323 53,738
BF&M Limuted Bermuda 119,938 (92,491) 26,351 3,022 252 23,369
West Hamulten Holdings Limited Bermuda 3,741 (1,000) 130 31 282 2,262
United Leasing Company Limited Bangladesh 33,621 (29.499) 2,785 4035 384 6,774
United Insurance Conpany Limized* Bangladesh 2,126 (804) G73 51 370 6,556
2009
Listed
Siegfried Holding AG Swirzerland 92,236 (28.947) 54,190 {6.751) 323 50,346
BF&M Limated Bermuda 114,063 {87.647) 33,270 3,164 252 19,571
West Hamilton Holdings Limited Bermuda 5,603 {3,209) 267 {20} 282 2,026
United Leasing Company Limited Bangladesh 29910 {25,860) 4,036 573 384 13,763
United Insurance Company Limited Bangladesh 1,627 412) 192 68 azo 12,438

On 15 Apnl 2010, the group disposed of tts enure sharcholding in Siegfried Holding AG, an associated undertaking
The proceeds on disposal are £48,850,000 (CHF 79,571,000) and the esumated profit before tax on disposal 1s
£200,000

* Includes its wholly owned subsidiary, the Surmah Valley Tea Company Limited On 14 December 2008, United
Insurance Company Limited sold its interest in Surmah Valley Tea Company Limited to group companies
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Qther investments

Group

Cost or fair value

At | January

Exchange differences

Farr value adjustment

Additions

Transfer to investment 1n associates

Disposals
At 31 December

Provision for diminution in value
Ac 1 January

Exchange differences

Provided during year

At 31 December

Net book value at 31 December

Net book value comprises
Held-to-maruncy investments

UK Treasury bills

Bank and bwilding socicty ceruficares of deposit

Available-for-sale finanaial assets
Listed investments
Unlisted investments

Collections

Current element
Non-current element

restated™
2009 2008
£'000 £000
39,690 41,336
(2,848) 7,687
(729) (7,025)
12,683 7,185
- (2,696)
(5,481) (6,797)
43,315 39,690
586 150
(48) 86
204 350
742 586
42,573 39,104
4,988 -
7,432 5436
12,420 5436
22,613 26,284
223 247
22,836 26,531
7.317 7137
42,573 39,104
12,420 5436
30,153 33,668
42,573 39,104

Collections comprise the group’s and company’s investment 1n fine art, philately, documents and manusenipts The

market value of collections 1s expected to be in excess of book value

UK Treasury bills and bank and building soctery ceruficates of deposit are held by the group'’s banking operanion

With effect from 1 July 2008, the group has representation on the board of West Hamilten Holdings Limited and 1s 1n
2 pesition to exert sigmficant influence As a result, 1n 2008, the investment 1n this company was reclassified from other
investments to an investment in assoctate The result of chus reclassification was that investments 1n associates increased

by £2,043,000, being the cquity valuc and other investments dechined by £2,696,000, being the market value The

difference of £653,000 was transferred to reserves

*Within the 2008 comparatve amounts, £5,436,000 have been reclassified from cash and cash equivalents to

held-to-maturity investments
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21 Other investments (rontnued)

2009 2008
£000 £000
Company
Cost or fair value
Ac I January 7.316 7,279
Faur value adjustment 16 -
Addiuons 260 100
Disposals (20) (63)
At 31 December 7,512 7316
Cost or fair value comprises
Listed investments 20 4
Unlisted investments 170 170
Collections 7,322 7142
7,512 7316
22 Inventories
2009 2008
£'000 £000
Graup
Raw matermals and consumables 7,595 8,959
Wotk in progress 993 1,002
Produce on hand 12,859 14,027
Finushed goods 6,832 6,783
28,279 30,771
The year end inventortes balance includes a write-down provision of £258,000 (2008 £205,000)
23  Trade and other recervables
restated”
2009 2008
£000 £000
Group
Due within one year
Amounts due from custorners of banking subsidiaries 21,833 19,840
Trade debtors 23,222 24,642
Amounts owed by associated undertakings 260 346
Other debtors 5,758 6,126
Prepayments and accrued income 4,124 4,750
55,197 55,704
Due after one year
Amounts due from customers of banking subsidiaries 18,718 20,256
Other debrors 928 279
19,646 21,235

Induded within trade debrors 1s a provision for doubtful debis of £534,000 (2008 £375,000)

*Within the 2008 comparative amounts, £20,256,000 have been reclassified from amounts due within one year to

amounts due after onc year
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Trade and other receivables (conunued)

Trade debrors include receivables of £4,134,000 (2008 £5,151,000) which are past due at the reporting dace against
which the group has not provided, as there has not been a signuficant change 1n credic quahity and the 2zmounts are sull

considered recoverable Ageing of past due bur not provided for recevables 15 as follows

Up o 30 days
30-60 days
60-90 days
Ower 90 days

Cash and cash equivalents

Group

Cash at bank and 1n hand
Short-term bank deposits
Shorr-term hquid investments

2009 2008
£000 £000
2,637 3,700

952 639
252 370
293 442
4,134 5,151
restated*

2009 2008
£000 £000

157,102 249,185
21,117 11,951
51,355 15,062

229,574 276,198

Included tn the amounts above are cash and short-term funds, ume deposits with banks and building societies, UK
treasuty bills and ceruificates of deposit amounting to £193,434,000 (2008 £251,423,000) which are held by the

group’s banking subsidiaries and which are an integral part of the banking operations

*Within the 2008 comparative amounts, £5,436,000 relating to the banking operations have been reclassified from cash

at bank and i1n hand te other investments

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts include the following for the purposes of the cash flow stacement

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding banking operations)
Bank overdrafts (note 26)

Effective interest rate
Short-term deposits
Short-term hquid investments
Avcrage maturlty perlod
Short-term deposits

Short-term liquid investments

2009 2008
£000 £000
36,140 24,775
(7,509) (14,856)
28,631 9,919
2009 2008

% %
020-1050 100-1370
040-230 170-260
57 days 57 days

35 days 21 days
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25 Tradc and other payables

Due within one year
Amounts due to customers of banking subsidiaries
Trade credicors
Other raxation and social secuniry
Other creditors
Accruals

Due after one year

Amounts due to customers of banking subsidianes

“Within che 2008 comparauve amounes, £12,347,000 have been reclassified from amounts due within one year to

amounts duc after one year

Group Company
restated”

2009 2008 2009 2008
£000 £000 £'000 £000
219,909 268,993 - -
18,005 17,160 - -
1,256 1412 - -
10,580 11,490 18 20
4,596 5112 - -
254,346 304,167 18 20
11,227 12,347 - -

53



Camellia Plc

Notes to the accounts

26

54

Finanacial hiabalities - borrowings

Group

Cutrent

Bank overdrafts
Bank loans
Finance leases

Current borrowings include the following amounts secured
on biclogical assets and property, plant and equipmen:
Bank overdrafts
Bank loans

Finance leases

Non-current
Bank loans

Finance leases

Non-current borrowings include the following amounts secured
on biological assets and property, plant and equipment
Bank loans

Finance leases

The repayment of bank loans and overdrafts fall due as follows
Within one year or on demand (included 1n current Liabilities)
Berween 1 — 2 years
Between 2 — S years
After 5 years

Minimum fnance lease payments fall due as follows
Within one year or on demand (included 1n current hiabilites)
Between 1 — 2 years
Between 2 - 5 years

Future finance charges on finance leases

Present value of finance lease habilities

2009 2008
£'000 £000
7,509 14,856
4,526 2,884

726 889
12,761 18,629
6,296 13,639
706 2,384
726 889
7,728 16,912
2,444 10,002
675 1,352
3,119 11,354
2,444 5,260
675 1.352
3,119 6,612
12,035 17.740
616 5,972
858 Lil6
970 2,914
14,479 27,742
805 L0186
516 780
214 715

1,535 251

(134) (270)
1,401 2241
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26  Financial Liabidiues — borrowings (consinued)
The presenc value of finance lease liabiliues fall due as follows

2009 2008

£000 £000

Within one year or on demand (included in current habilictes) 726 889
Berween | — 2 years 473 702
Between 2 — 5 years 202 650
1,401 2241

The zates of interest payable by che group ranged between

2009 2008

% %

Overdrafts 310-1750 3001550
Bank foans 138-1350 188-1300
Finance leases 325-1800 325-1800

27  Provisions

Onerous lease

£000
Group
At 1 January 2008 123
Provided in the peniod 123
Uulised 1n the peniod (123)
At 1 January 2009 123
Provided 1n the period 150
Unilised 1n the period (123)
At 31 December 2009 150
Current
At 31 December 2009 150
Ar 31 Decernber 2008 123

The provision for onerous lease relates to warehouse premises operated by Associated Cold Stores & Transport Limuted,
and relates to twelve months rental which is the expected period of vacancy The lease expires in 2016
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Deferred tax

The net movement on the deferred tax account 15 ser our below

At 1 January
Exchange differences

(Credited)/charged to the income statement

Charged/(credited} to equity
Companies joining the group

At 31 December

The movement 1n deferred tax assets and habilicies 1s ser out below

Deferred tax liabihiies

At t January 2008
Exchange differences
(Credited)/charged to che

income staternent
Credited to equity
Companies joinng the group

Transfer between categories

At 1 January 2009
Exchange differences

{Credued)/charged to the
Income staterment

Charged to equity
At 31 December 2009

Deferred tax assets offset

Net deferred tax liability after offset

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

£000 £000 £000 £000

32,495 25,363 337 337

{3,133) 7,748 - -

(292) 811 - -

1,276 (1,784) - -

- 357 - -

30,346 32,495 337 337

Unremiteed
Accelerared earnings of Pension
tax overseas scheme

depreciation assoclates liabahity Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
26,074 3,300 1,793 60 31,227
6,442 1,560 135 (3) 8,134
2,167 (2,223) 129 242 315
- - (1,069) - (1,009)

357 - - - 357
310 - - - 310
35,350 2,637 988 299 39,274
(3,045) - (74) 13 (3,106}
1,522 (2,637) (48) (240} (1,403}
- _ 69 - 69
33,827 - 935 72 34,834
(4,385}

30,449
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Deferred tax (continued)
Deferred cax assets

At 1 January 2008
Exchange differences
(Charged)/creducd to the

Income statement
Credited to equity
Transfer between categories

Ar 1 January 2009
Exchange differences

(Charged{/credited to the
Income statement

Charged to equity
At 31 December 2009

Offset againse deferred tax habilities

Net deferred rax asset after offset

Decelerated Pension
rax scheme
depreciation Tax losses asset Other Toral
£000 £000 £000 £'000 £000
329 1,770 3,065 700 5,864
(13) 58 141 200 386
(302) (112) (462) 380 {496)
- - 715 - 715
307 27 (4) (20) 310
321 1,743 3,455 1,260 6,779
- 191 {81) (83) 27
175 (107) (1,285) 106 (1,111)
- - (1,207) - (1,207)
496 1,827 882 1,283 4,488
(4,385)
103

Deferred rax habihues of £5,403,000 (2008 £21,941,000) have not been recognised for the withholding tax and
other taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries Such amounts are permanently

reinvested

Deferred tax assets are recogmised for tax losses carried forward only to the extent that the realisanon of the related tax
benefit through future caxable profits 1s probable The group has not recognised deferred tax assets of £4,943,000 (2008

£5,801,000) 1 respect of losses that can be carned forward against future taxable income
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29  Pensions
Certain group subsidiartes operate defined contribution and funded defined benefit pension schemes The most
significant are the UK funded, final salary defined benefic schemes The assets of these schemes are admunistered by
trustees and are kept separate from those of the group Valuauons of the three UK defined benefit pension schemes are
produced and updated annually w0 31 December by qualified independent actuartes The UK final salary defined benefit
pension schemes are closed to new entrants and new employees are eligible to yoin a group personal pension plan The
Unochrome Group Pension Scheme 15 closed to fucure accruals and former active members participate 1n a defined
contribunion scheme

The overseas schemes are operated in group subsidiaries located 1n Bangladesh, India and The Netherlands Actuarial
valuauons have been updated 10 31 December 2009 by qualified actuartes for these schemes

Assumptions

The major assumptions used 1n this valuaten to determine the present value of the schemes’ defined benefir ebligations
were as follows

2009 2008
% per annum 96 per annum

UK schemes

Rate of increase 1n salaries 370 285-300
Rate of increase to LPI (Limuted Price Indexation) pensions in payment 250-500 250-500
Discount rate applied to scheme habihies 570 625
Inflation assumpuion 3 60 275

Assumpnions regarding furure mortality expenence are based on advice recerved from independent actuaries The current
mortality tables used are PCAOC and PNAOO with medium cohort improvement factors and subject to a minumum rate
of improvement of 1% per annum, projected by year of bireh and with an age raung of +1 5 years and +2 years

Overscas schemes

Rate of increase 1n salaries 200-700 200-700
Rate of increase to LPI (Limtted Price Indexation) pensions in payment 000-300 000--300
Discount rate applied to scheme liabilities 531-875 530-1170
Inflauion assumpuion 000-700 000-700

The major assumpuons used to determine the expected furure recurn on the schemes’ assets were as follows

UK schemes

Equitses and property 7 40 710
Bonds 500 500
Cash 050 200

Overseas schemes

Bonds 706-1250 779-1250

Cash 706-1250 779-1250

Other 531-536 530-5060
d
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Pensions (continued)
Actuanal valuauons

Equaties and propery
Bonds

Cash
Other

Total farr value of plan assets
Present vatue of defined benefit obligavions

Total (deficu}/sucplus in the schemes

Amount recogmsed as asset
1n the balance sheet

Amount recognised as liabilicy
in the balance sheet

Related deferred tax asset (note 28)
Related deferred tax liability {note 28)

Ner (defiei)/surplus

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets were as follows

At 1 January

Expected return on plan assets
Employer contnbutions

Contnburions paid by plan partucipants
Benefit payments

Actuartal gains/(tosses)

Exchange differences

At 31 December

2009 2008

UK Overseas Total UK COuerseas Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
76,981 312 77,293 63,567 300 63 867
25,999 13,388 39,387 23,249 12,681 35930
1,550 1,907 3,457 1354 3183 4537

- 1,926 1,926 - 1,808 1,808
104,530 17,533 122,063 88,170 17,972 106,142
(128,720) (17,334) {146,054) (111,819 (18,285) (130,104)
(24,190) 199 {23,991} (23,649) 313) {23,962)

- 3,054 3,054 - 3,10 3,101
(24,190) (2,855} (27.045) (23,649 (3.414) (27,063)
(24,190) 199 (23,991) (23,649 (313} (23,962}

- 882 882 2,435 1,020 3455

- (935) (935) - (958) (988}
(24,190) 146 (24,044) (21,214) (281) (21,495)

2009 2008

UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
88,170 17,972 106,142 112,367 14,670 127,037
5,512 1,338 6.850 7.209 1,153 8,362
4,989 439 5,428 3,060 1,070 4,130
435 8 443 425 9 434
(5,953) {960) {6,913) (5,923) (1,364) (7.287}
11,377 82 11,459 (28,968} (94} {29 062)
- (1,346) (1,346) - 2,528 2,528

104 530 17,533 122,063 88,170 17,972 106 142
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Pensions (continued}
Movements 1n the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows

2009 2008

UK Overseas Toral UK Overseas Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At ] January {111,819 (18,285} (130,104) (178 488) (13,391} {131,879}
Current service cost (895) (829) (1,724) (1,140} (636) (1,776)
Contmibutions paid by plan participants (435) (8) (443) (425} % (434)
Interest cost (6,836) (1,143) (7.979) (6,864} (1,000} (7.864)
Benefit payments 5,953 960 6,913 5923 1,364 7.287
Actuanat gains/(losses) {14,688) 572 (14,116) 9175 (2,040) 7135
Exchange differences - 1,399 1,399 - (2,573} (2573)
At 31 December (128,720) (17,334) (146,054) (111819 (18,285) (130,104)

In 2007, the total fair value of plan assets was £127,037,000, present value of defined benefit obligauons was
£131,879,000 and the deficit was £4,842,000 In 2006, the total fair value of plan assers was £122,836,000, present
value of defined benefir obligations was £137,032,000 and the deficit was £14,196,000 and in 2005, the toral fair value

of plan assets was £116,235,000, present value of defined benefit obligations was £134,885,000 and the deficit was
£18,650,000

Income statement
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows

2009 2008
UK Overseas Total UK Ouerseas Total

£7000 £'000 £000 £ 000 £000 £ 000
Amounts charged to operaung profit
Current service cost (895) (829) (1,724) (1.140) (636) (1,776)
Total operating charge (895) (829 {1,724) (1 140) {636) (1,776)
Amounts chargedf{credited) to other finance costs
Expected return on pension scheme assets 5512 1,338 6,850 7.209 1,153 8,362
Interest on pension scheme habilines (6,836) (1,143) (7,979 (6,864) (1.000) (7.864)
Net financing {charge)/income {(note 8) (1,324) 195 (1,129 345 153 498
Total charged 10 1ncome statement (2.219) {634) (2.853) (795) (483) (1,278)

Contributions o defined contnbution schemes are charged to profit when payable and the costs charged were
£3,027,000 (2008 £2,730.000)
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Pensions (contnued)

Actuarial gains and losses recognised 1n the statement of comprehensive income

The amounts included 1n the statement of comprehensive income

2009 2008
UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total
£000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Actua return less expected return on
pension scheme assets 11,377 82 11,459 (28,968) o) (29,062}
Expernence gains/(losses) ansing on scheme
habehies 2,654 572 3,226 194 2 04a) (1,846}
Changes 1n assumpuons underlying
present value of scheme habilities {17.342) - (17.342) 8981 — 8981
Actuanal (loss)/gan (3.311) 654 (2,657) (19.793) (2,134) {21,927)
Taxauon on actuanal movement (1,148) (128) (1,276) 1137 647 1,784
Ner actuartal (loss)/gain (4,459) 526 (3,933 (18 6506) (1.487) (20,143)
History of expenience gains and losses
2009 2008 2007
UK  Ovenseas Taoral UK Overscas Te:al UK Overseas Total
Difterenee between expected and actal return.on scheme assets
Amount (£ 000) 11377 82 11459 (28 968) (94} (29062) (I 636) 511} 2 147)
Percentage of scheme assets 10 9% 0 5% 94% (329%) (O5%) (274%) (159%) (I5%)} (1 7%)
Expenence gains and losses on scheme labilines
Amount (£ 000) 2654 572 3226 194 (20400 (1846) (1114} (589) (1703}
Percentage of present value of scheeme liabiizies 21% 33% 22% 02% (112%) (14%) (09%) (44%) (13%)
Effects to changes 1n assumprions undedying the present value
of the scheme [abilites:
Amount (£000) {17 342) - (172,342} &893t - 8,58t 9880 - 5880
Percentage of present value of scheme Labiities {13 5%) - (11 9%} 0% - 69% 43% - 7 5%
Tortal amount recognised
Amount (£ 000} {3511} 654 (2657 (19793) (2134} (21527} 7130 {1100} 6,030
Pereentage of prosent value of scheme labiliuies (26%) 38%  (I8%) (I77%) (117%) (169%) 6.0% 82%) 46%
2006 2005
UK Owerseas Tural UK Overweas Total
Dufference between expected and acrual reeumn on scheme assen
Amount (£ 000) 2127 3] 2192 11,960 (130) 11839
Pereenezge of scheme assets 19% 05% 8% i17% @ 2%) 102%
Expenence gains and losses on scheme babilines
Amount (£000) 1416 1790 3206 (2541) (1031 (3572)
Percentage of presenc value of scheme labalicies 1I% 159% 23% 21%) (76%) (26%)
Effects o changes 1in asumpuens undertying the presenr value
of the scheme lrabiliuer
Amount (£000) {1858} - (1858) (3948} - (3948)
Percentage of present value of scheme labilieies {1 5%} - (4%} (33%) - (2 9%}
Tocal amount recognused
Amount (£000) I 685 1855 3540 5,471 (I 161} 4310
Percentage of present vatue of scheme habidines 13% 16.5% 26% 45% (8 6%) 32%

The current best esumate of employer contribuuons to be paid to UK defined benefit pension schemes for the year

commencing | January 2010 1s £5,285,000
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Other employee benefit oblhigations
The movement in other employee benefic obligations 1s as follows

2009 2008

£'000 £000
Group
Ac 1 January 2,299 1,462
Exchange differences (169) 335
Charged to the 1ncome statement 228 676
Payments made (467) (174)
At 31 December 1,891 2,299
Current element 268 247
Non-current element 1,623 2,052

1,891 2,299
Sharc capatal

2009 2008

£000 £000
Authonised 2,842,000 (2008 2,842,000) ordinary shares of 10p each 284 284
Allotted, called up and fully paid ordinary shares of 10p each
At 1 January and 31 December — 2,842,000 (2008 2,842,000} shares 284 284

Group compantes hold 62,500 issued shares in the company These are classified a5 treasury shares
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Reconctliation of profit from operations to cash flow

Group

Profit from operations

Share of associates’ resules

Depreciation and amortisation

Impairment of non-current assets

Gain ansing from changes n fair value of biological assets
Profit on disposal of non-current assets

Profit on disposal of an associate

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

Profit on part dispesal of a subsidiary

Profic on disposal of investments

Increase 1n working capital

Net decrease/(increase) in funds of banking subsidiaries

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement 1n net cash/(debt)

Group
Increase 1n cash and cash equivalents 1n the year
Ner cash outflow from decrease 1n debt

Decrease in net debr resulung from cash flows
New finance leases

Dusposal/(acquisition) of a subsidiary

Exchange rate movements

Decrease tn net debe in the year
Net debe at beginning of year

Net cash/(debt) at end of year

restated
2009 2008
£000 £000
34,629 24,329
2,966 8,612
8,685 8,294
204 350
(2,746) (8,916)
(260) (5192)
- 50)
674 -
(135) (104)
(28) (390)
(3.741) (2,335)
7,790 (184)
48,038 29,087
restated
2009 2008
£000 £000
19,189 7576
4,095 3618
23,284 11,194
(65) (453)
1,868 (184)
381 960y
25,468 9597
{5.208) (14,805)
20,260 (5.208)
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Disposal and acquusiuon of businesscs

Group

In 2009, the group disposed of 1ts 100 per cent owned Chilean subsidiary, Hacienda Chada S A

Details of net assets disposed/acquired are as follows

Fair value of assets and Liabilities
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Brological asscts
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings — current — overdrafts
Borrowings — current — loans
‘Trade and other payables
Current income tax liabilities
Borrowings — non current
Deferred tax liabilities
Net effect of associates acquisiion/disposal

Sansfied by

Cash consideratton and acquisition costs

Net inflow/(outflow) of cash 1n respect of disposal and acquisttion of bustnesses
Cash consideratton and acquisition costs
Loans repad
Costs of disposal
Ner cash and overdrafts of businesses

Disposal Acquustiion
2009 2608
£'000 £000
118 -
4,565 1,660
1,883 2,342
93 436
26 244
20 331
- (1,234)
(1,848) (48)
(26} (184)
- (203)
- (136)
- (357)
- (295)
4,831 2,756
6,497 2,756
6,497 (2,756)
(1,848) -
(786) -
(20} (703}
3.843 (3.459)

In 2008, the group acquired 100 per cent of the share capital of Surmah Valley Tea Company Limited, a tea company

operaung in Bangladesh The company was acquired from Unired Insurance Company, an associate company

In 2006, the group acquired 100 per cent of the issued share capital of Hill Martun Holdings Limited and Hill Martin

Limized (rogether “Hudl Martin™) In 2008, the group paid a further £661,000 in respect of this acquisiion
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Commitments

Caputal commitments
Capital expenditure contracred for at the balance sheet date but not yet incurred 15 as follows

2009 2008
£000 £000
Group
Property, plant and equipment 1,467 2,281
Biological assets - 47
1,467 2,328

Operating leasing commitments — mimmimum lease payments

The group leases land and buildings, plant and machinery under non-cancellable operating lease arrangements, which

have var:ous terms and renewal nighes

‘The furure aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operaung leases are as follows

2009 2008
£000 £000
Group
Land and buildings
Within 1 year 534 533
Between 1 ~ 5 years 1,789 1,898
After 5 years 16,006 16,997
18,329 19,428
Plant and machinery
Within 1 year 118 123
Between 1 - 5 years 273 565
391 688

Contngent liabiliues

The group operates in certain countries where s operations are potenuially subject to a number of legal claims including
taxaton When required, appropriate provisions are made for the expected cost of such claims At 31 December 2009,

the directors do not anttcipate the outcome of any such claim to result 1n a material loss
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Financial instruments

Capual sk management

The group manages 1ts caputal to ensure that the group will be able to continue as a gotng concern, while maximising
the return to stakeholders through the opumisanion of its debt and equity balance The capiral structure of the group
consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed 1n note 26, cash and cash equivalents and equuty attnibutable o

equty holders of the parent, compnsing i1ssued capital, reserves and retained earnings

The board reviews the capital structure, with an objective to ensure thar gross borrowings as a percentage of tangible net

assets does not exceed 50 per cent

The rauio at the year end 15 as follows

Borrowings
Tangble net assets

Rato

Borrowngs are defined as current and non-current borrowngs, as detailed i note 26

Tangible net assets includes all capital and reserves of the group attniburable to equity holders of the parent less

intangible assets

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents {excluding bank subsidiaries)
Loans and advances to banks by banking subsidiares
Loans and advances to customers of banking subsidianes
Trade and other receivables

Other investments

Financial Liabilsties

Amounts due to customers of banking subsidianes
Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Provisions

Other non-current hiabilities

Faur values

2009 2008
£'000 £000
15,880 29,983
285,270 295,041
5 57% 10 16%
Cartying value
restated
2009 2008
£000 £600
36,140 24,775
193,434 251,423
40,551 40,096
30,168 32,093
35,256 31,967
335,549 380,354
231,136 281,340
34,437 35174
15,880 29983
150 123
118 131
281,721 346,751

Financial assets and liabilities, are subject to market variations 1n respect of price, exchange and interest rates The group
assesses fair values based on available marker data and does not make use of valuacion techniques

The fair value of the group’s financial assets and habihities are not matenally different to their carrying value
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Financial instruments (contrmecd)

Finanaal risk management abjectives

The group finances 1s operauons by a mixture of retained profits, bank borrowings, long-term loans and leases The
objective 1s to maintain a balance between conunuity of funding and flexibibity through the use of borrowings with a
range of matunities To achieve this, the matunity profile of borrowings and facilies are regularly reviewed The group
also seeks to mainrain sufficient undrawn commutred borrowing facilines to provide flexibility in the management of che
group’s iqudiry

Given the nawure and diversity of the group’s operations, the board does not believe a highly complex use of financial
instruments would be of significant benefit to the group However, where appropnate, the board does authorise the use
of certain financial instruments to mutigate financial risks thar face the group, where 1t 15 effecuve to do s

Various financial instruments anse direcely from the group’s operauons, for example cash and cash equivalents, trade
debrtors and trade creditors In addien, cthe group uses financial instruments for two main reasons, namely

- To finance its operanons (to mmgate hquidity nsk),

— To manage cuttency nisks ansing from its operations and ansing from 1ts sources of finance (to mingate foretgn
exchange nisk)

The group, including Duncan Lawrie, the group’s banking subsidiary, did not, in accordance with group policy, trade in
financial instruments throughout the peried under review

{A) Market nsk

(1) Forergn exchange risk

The group has no material exposute to foreign currency exchange nsk on currencies other than the functional currencies
of the operaung enumes

Currency nisks are primanly managed through the use of natural hedging and regularly reviewing when cash should be
exchanged into either sterling or another functional currency

(1) Price risk

The group 1s exposed to equuty secunties price nisk because of investments held by the group and classified on the
consolidated balance sheet as available-for-sale To manage its price nisk anstng from 1nvestments 1n equity securities, the
group diversifies uts portfolio

The majority of the group’s equity investments are publicly traded and are included on the Bermudian, Swass and
Japanese stock exchanges Should these equity indexes increase or decrease by 5 per cent with all other varables held
constant and all the group's equity instruments move accordingly, the group’s equity balance would increase/decrease by
£1,131,000 (2008 £1,314,000)

The group’s exposure to commodity price nisk 1s not sigmificanc

(101) Cash flow and interest rate risk
The group’s interest rate nisk arses from 1ncerest-bearing assets and shore and long-term borrowings Borrowings issued
at varable rates expose the group to cash flow interese rate sk The group has no fixed race exposure

At 31 December 2009, if interest rates on non-stetling denomunated interest-bearning assets and borrowings had been 50
basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been £118,000
(2008 £3,000) higher/lower

At 31 December 2009, 1f interest rates on sterling denominated interest-bearing assets and borrowings had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been £60,000 (2008
£49,000) higher/lower
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Financial instruments (cortinued)

The interest rate exposure of the group's interest bearing assets and liabilities by currency, at 31 December was

Asscts Liabilities

2009 2008 2009 2008

£000 £000 £000 £000

Sterling 151,076 188,064 139,076 178,350
US Dollar 55,414 75,103 50,637 73,829
Euro 36,636 26,901 36,749 26,893
Kenyan Shilling 10,465 3,990 - 2,731
Indian Rupee 4,862 2,845 1,226 4,255
Malaw1 Kwacha 60 106 627 -
Bangladesh Taka 5,775 6,141 5,879 8,769
Austrahan Dollar 4,272 5,604 4,275 5,602
South African Rand 246 423 362 315
Swiss Franc 5,213 9138 4,694 8613
Brazilian Real 3,028 816 - —
Chilean Peso 228 287 - -
Bermudran Dollar 1,777 342 - -
Canadran Dollar 1,606 1072 1,611 1,072
Japanese Yen 1,305 287 1,302 286
Danuish Krone 517 560 516 559
Qther 65 51 62 49
282,545 321,730 247,016 311,323

(B} Credut risk

The group has policies in place to himit ies exposure to credit sk Credit nisk anses from cash and cash equivalents,
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outsranding receivables
and committed transacuions If customers are independently rated, these ranings are used Otherwase if there 15 no
independent rating, management assesses the credit quabity of the customer taking tnto account s financial posiion,
past expenience and other factors and 1f appropniate holding liens over stock and recerving payments 1n advance of
services or goods as required Management monitors the unkiszuon of credit hmuts regularly

The group’s approach to customer lending through the group's banking subsidiaries 1s nisk averse with only 2 0 per cent
of the customer loan book being unsecured Collateralised loans are normally secured against cash or properry, with
property loans being restricted to 70 per cent of recent valuation

The group has a large number of trade recervables, with the largest five recervables at the year end only comprising 19
per cent (2008 19 per cent ) of total wrade receivables

(C) Liquidity risk

Uliimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors The group manages liquidity nisk
by mainraining adequate reserves and banking facihities by contunuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and
managing the matunty profiles of financial assets and habihues

The two subsidiary compantes which are engaged 1n banking acuvines, Duncan Lawnie Limited and Duncan Lawne
{IOM) Limited both have restrictions conramed in their memorandum and araicles of association which place a ceiling
on their levels of customer lending Such restnictions effecuvely limit the customer loan book to the value of the share
capital and reserves of Duncan Lawnie Thus fact, in conjunction with the general macching of matuning customer
depostts with marker placements and the general use of hiquid assess such as cernficates of deposit, results in significantly
reduced iquidity nsk for Duncan Lawrie and the group

At 31 December 2009, the group had undrawn agreed faalities of £28,630,000 (2008 £26,985,000}, all of which are
due 10 be reviewed withun one year
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Financial snstruments (continued)

The table below analyses the group’s financial assets and liabiliies which wall be setded on a net basis 1nto relevant
matunty groupings based on the rematning period at the balance sheet date to the contracrual matunicy date The

amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows

At 31 December 2008

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
(excluding bank subsidiaries}
Loans and advances to banks
by banking subsidiarics
Loans and advances to customets

of banking subsidiaries
Trade and other recervables
Other investments

Liabilities

Deposits by banks at banking
substdiartes

Customer accounts held ac
banking subsidiaries

Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Provistons

Other non-current llabilities
At 31 December 2009

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
(excluding bank subsidiaries)

Loans and advances to banks
by banking subsidiaries

Loans and advances to customers
of banking subsidiartes

Trade and other recervables

Ovther investments

Liabihities

Depaosits by banks ac banking
subsidiaries

Customer accounts held at
banking subsidiaries

Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Provisions

Other non-current habilities

Lessthan  Berween 1 Berween 2 Over 5 Undated Total
lyear and2years and 5 years years
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
24,775 - - - - 24,775
250,832 - - - 591 251,423
19,578 3,247 13,377 3,632 262 40,096
31,114 979 - - - 32,093
5,436 - - - 26,531 31,967
210 - - - - 210
268,317 980 10,191 1,176 466 281,130
35,174 - - - - 35,174
18,629 6,674 1,766 2,914 - 29,983
123 - - - 123
- - - 122 9 131
36,140 - - - - 36,140
193,225 - - - 209 193,434
21,651 3,807 10,939 3,972 182 40,551
29,240 928 - - - 30,168
12,420 - - - 22,836 35,256
589 - - - - 589
218,795 2,515 7,735 977 525 230,547
34,437 - - - - 34,437
12,762 1,088 1,060 970 - 15,880
150 — — - - 150
- - - 118 - 118

Included in loans and advances to banks by banking subsidiaries repayable 1n less chan 1 year 1s £37,963,000 (20608
£21,303,000) repayable on demand and £155,262,000 (2008 £229,529,000) repayable within 3 months
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Financial instruments (continued)

Included 1n loans and advances to custorers of banking subsidiaries repayable in less chan 1 year s £2,773,000 (2008
£3,288,000) repayable on demand, £6,349,000 (2008 £4,105,000) repayable within 3 months and £12,529,000 {2008
£12,185,000) repayable between 3 and 12 months

Included 1n other investments repayable in less than 1 year 1s £12,420,000 (2008 £5,436,000) repayable berween 3 and
12 months

Included in deposits by banks at banking subsidianies repayable in less than 1 year 1s £489,000 (2008 £210.000)
repayable on demand and £100,000 (2008 £ni repayable within 3 months

Included in customer accounts held ac banking subsidiaries repayable 1n less than 1 year 15 £65,600,000 (2008
£100,102,000) repayable on demand, £144,034,000 {2008 £161,143,000) repayable wathin 3 months and £9,161,000
(2008 £7,072,000) repayable between 3 and 12 months

Included in borrowings in less than 1 year 15 £7,509,000 (2008 £14,856,000) repayable on demand

Principal subsidiary and associated undertakungs

Subsidiary undertakings
The principal operating subsidiary undercakings of the group ac 31 December 2009, which are wholly owned and
incorporated in Great Britain unless otherwise stated, were

Principat

country of

Opcra[lon
Agniculture and horuculture
Amgoorie India Limited (Incorporated 1n India - 99 8 per cent holding) Indra
C C Lawne Comércio ¢ Participaces Ltda (Incorporated 1n Brazif) Brazil
Eastern Produce Cape (Pry) Limited (Incorporated in South Africa) South Africa
Eastern Produce Kenya Limited (Incorporated in Kenya — 70 0 per cent holding) Kenya
Eastern Produce Malaw: Limited (incorporated in Malaw: — 73 2 per cent holding) Malawn
Eastern Produce South Africa (Pry) Limured (Incorporated in South Africa — 73 2 per cent holding} South Africa
Goodricke Group Limited {Incorporated in India — 80 1 per cent holding) India
Horizon Farms (An United States of America general partnership — 80 0 per cent holding) USA
Kakuzi Limited {Incorporated 1n Kenya — 50 7 per cent holding) Kenya
Koomber Tea Company Limited {Incorporated 1n Indta) India
Longbourne Holdings Limited Bangladesh
Stret Tea Company Limited (Incorporaced in Kenya — 59 0 per cent owned by Kakuzi Limited) Kenya
Stewart Holl {Ind1a) Limuted (Incorporated in India — 92 0 per cent holding} India
Engineening
Abbey Metal Funshing Company Limited UK
AJT Engincenng Limired UK
AKD Engineening Limiced UK
British Metal Treatments Limited UK
General Unlies (Stockport) Limuted UK
Food storage and distnbution
Affish BV (Incorporated in The Nethertands) The Netherlands
Associared Cold Stores & Transport Limited UK
Wylax Internanional BY (Incorporated 1n The Netherlands) The Netherlands
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Prinaipal substdiary and associated undertakings (continucd}
Subsidiary undertakings (conanued)

Trading and agency
Robertson Bois Dickson Anderson Limuted

Banlung and financial services

Duncan Lawnie Limited

Duncan Lawrie Asset Management Limiced

Duncan Lawrie Holdings Limited

Duncan Lawrie (IOM) Limited (Incorporated 1n Isle of Man)

Investment holding

Affish Limited

Assam Dooars [nvestments Limited

Associated Fishertes Limited

Bordure Limited

John Ingham 8¢ Sons Limited

Lawrie (Bermuda) Limited (Incorporared 1n Bermuda)
Lawnie Group Ple

Lawrie International Limited {Incorporated in Bermuda)
Linton Park Plc

Unochrome Industries Limited

Western Dooars Invesunents Limuted

Associated undertakings

The prinaipal assoctated undertakings of the group at 31 December 2009 were

Chemical and pharmaceutical

Siegfried Holding AG (Incorperated in Swiczerland — registered shares)

Insurance and lcasing
BF&M Limnited {Incorporated 1n Bermuda — commeon stock}
Unued Insurance Company Limited
(Incorporated 1n Bangladesh — ordinary shares)
United Leasing Company Lirmited
{Incorporated 1n Bangladesh — ordinary shares)

Property
West Harmilton Holdings Limited
(Incorporated 1n Bermuda — commeon stock)

Prncipal
country of
opetaton

Switzerland

Bermuda
Bangladesh

Bangladesh

Bermuda

Accounting
date
2009

31 December

31 December
31 December

31 December

31 December

Prncipal
country of
operarion

UK

UK
UK
UK
[sle of Man

UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
Bermuda
UK
Bermuda
UK
UK
UK

Group

interest

1n equity
capral

per cent

323

252
370

384

282
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Control of Camellia Plc

Camellia Holding AG holds 1,427,000 ordinary shares of Camellia Ple (represenung 51 34 per cent of the total vonng
rghts) Camelhia Helding AG s owned by The Camellia Private Trust Company Limited, 2 private trust company
incorporated under the laws of Bermuda to act as trustee of The Camellia Foundauen (“the Foundatton™) The
Foundaton 1s a Bermudian trust, the income of which 1s utilised for charitable, educational and humantranan causes at
the discretton of the trustees

The acuviues of Camellra Plc and uts group (the “Camelfa Group”) are conducred independently of the Foundanon
and, other than Mr M Dunki and Mr D A Reeves who are directors of The Camellia Private Trust Company Limuted
and act as trustees of the Foundation, nonc of the direcrors of Camelliz Ple are currently connected wath The Camellia
Private Trust Company Limated or the Foundation While The Camellia Privare Trust Company Limited as Trustee
of the Foundarion maincains 1es nighes as a shareholder, 1 has not partcipated in, and has confirmed to the board of
Camelha Ple thar it has no intenuon of parucipating 1n, the day to day running of the business of the Camellia Group
The Camellia Private Trust Company Limited has also confirmed 1ts agreement that where any director of Camella Plc
15 for the ume being connected with the Foundation, he should not exercise any voung nights as a director of Camelha
Plc 1n relation to any marter concerning the Camellia Group’s interest 1n any assets tn which the Foundation alse has a
material interest otherwise than through Camellia Ple

Since the Foundation is 2 non-trading entity, no transactions or refationships between the Camellia Group and the
Foundarion are envisaged, but the board of Camellia Plc will not in any event conduct any transacuon or relationship
with the Foundanon other than en an arm’s length and normal commercial basis

Events after the balance sheet date

On 15 April 2010, the group disposed of its entire shareholding 1n Stegfried Holding AG, an associated undertaking
and the proceeds on disposal are £48,850,000 {CHF 79,571,000) The estimated profit before tax on disposal net of
expenses, after the transfer of exchange differences and other movements previously included in reserves, 1s £200,000

It 15 the inzention o use the proceeds of the sale for the repayment of debe, the injection of further development capiral
mnto existing subsidiary companies and other general corporate purposes

A serious fire occurred at the Nuneaton premuses of Abbey Metal Finishing on the morning of 22 April 2010 Loss
adjustors have been appointed but 1t 15 too soon to assess when the facilicy wall be capable of becoming operational again



Report of the auditors

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Camellia Pl

We have audirted the group and parent company financial stacements (the “financial statements™) of Camellia Plc for the year
ended 31 December 2009 which comprnse the Conselidated Income Statement, the Group and Parent Company Balance
Sheets, the Group and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, the Group and Parent Company Sutement of Comprehensive
Income, the Group and Parent Company Statement of Changes 1n Equiry and the related notes The financial reporung
framewortk that has been applied tn their preparation 1s applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (TFRSs)
as adopted by the European Unien and, as regards the Company financial statements, as applied 1n accordance with cthe
provisions of the Companies Act 2006

Respective responsibilitics of directors and auditors

As explained more fully 1n the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 16, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the group financial statements and for being sausfied that they give a true and fair view Our responsibility 1s
to audit the group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and Internanonal Srandards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opintons, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands 1t may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent 1n wnting

Scopc of the audit of the financial statcments

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company's circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accountung esumates made by the directors, and
the overall presentation of the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinton

- the financial statemenes give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company's affairs as at 31
December 2009 and of the group's profit and group’s and parent company’s cash flows for the year then ended,

- the Group financial statements have been propetly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,

—  the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance wich 1FRSs as adopted by the
European Union and as applied 1n accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, and

—  the financial statements have been prepared 1n accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as
regards the group financial statements, Arucle 4 of the LAS Regulatuon

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companics Act 2006
In our optnion

- the part of the Directors’ Remunerauon Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006, and

—~  the informaton given in the [hrectors’ Repore for the finaneial year for which the financial statements are prepared 15
consistent with the financial statements, and

—  the informauon given in the Corporate Governance Staternent set out on pages 13 to 15 with respect to internal control
and nisk management systems and about share capiral structures 1s consistent with the financial statements
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Matters on which we are required to report by excepuion
We have nothing 1o report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, 1n our opimion

- adequate accounung records have not been kept by the parent company, o returns adequate for aur audit have not been
recerved from branches not visited by us, or

- the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remunerauon Reporr to be audited are not in
agreement with the accountng records and returns, or

- certain disclosures of dircctors’ remuncration speafied by law are not made, or

- we have not recerved all the information and explanations we require for our audit
Under the Listing Rules we are requited to review

~  the directors’ statement, set out on page 15, 1n relation to going concern, and

—  the parts of the Corporate Governance Statement, set out on pages 13 to 15, relaung to the company's comphance with

the nine provisions of the June 2008 Combined Code specified for out review
#

hartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

29 Apnl 2010
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Five year record

Revenue — continuing operations

Profit before tax
Taxauon

Profit from conunuing operations

Profit artributable to equity sharcholders

Equity diidends paid

Equity
Called up share capital
Reserves

Sharcholders’ funds

Earnings per shate
Dividend paid per share

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
£000 £000 £000 £7000 £000
230,270 190,551 161,936 160,552 152,743
34,143 24,040 30,651 19,982 22,275
(11,702) (7.547) (3,205) (4.808) (1.764)
22,441 16,493 27,446 15,174 20,511
15,897 11,044 25317 12,903 20,326
2,557 2557 2502 2,474 2,284
284 284 284 284 284
293,570 303,816 265,987 235,677 241,632
293,854 304,100 266,271 235,961 241,916
5719 397 3p 910 8p 164 2p 793 2p
92 00p 92 00p 90 00p 89 00p 88 00p
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